

Wayne State University

Wayne State University Dissertations

January 2020

# Timing And Duration Of Folate Restriction Differentially Impacts Colon Carcinogenesis.

Ali M. Fardous *Wayne State University* 

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.wayne.edu/oa\_dissertations

Part of the Biochemistry Commons, Food Science Commons, and the Molecular Biology Commons

# **Recommended Citation**

Fardous, Ali M., "Timing And Duration Of Folate Restriction Differentially Impacts Colon Carcinogenesis." (2020). *Wayne State University Dissertations*. 2384. https://digitalcommons.wayne.edu/oa\_dissertations/2384

This Open Access Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by DigitalCommons@WayneState. It has been accepted for inclusion in Wayne State University Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@WayneState.



# TIMING AND DURATION OF FOLATE RESTRICTION DIFFERENTIALLY IMPACTS COLON CARCINOGENESIS

by

# **ALI FARDOUS**

### DISSERTATION

Submitted to the Graduate School

of Wayne State University,

Detroit, Michigan

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

# **DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY**

2020

MAJOR: NUTRITION AND FOOD SCIENCE

Approved By:

Advisor

Date



#### **DEDICATION**

"Knowledge and understanding are life's faithful companions who will never prove untrue to you. For knowledge is your crown, and understanding your staff; and when they are with you, you can possess no greater treasures."

"Work is love made visible. And if you cannot work with love but only with distaste, it is better that you should leave your work and sit at the gate of the temple and take alms of those who work with joy."

-Gibran Khalil Gibran

I thank GOD first and foremost in his infinite mercy for all the blessings in my life. This work is dedicated to my beautiful wife Safa, mother of our sons Yusuf and Yaseen, and best friend. Thank you!



#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

A special thanks to my mentor Dr. Ahmad Heydari for his unwavering support and pushing me to be the best I can. You were there for me in my moments of weakness and did not hesitate to help me back on my feet whenever I faltered. For that you have my everlasting gratitude.

I thank my wife and partner for her love and unconditional support. I would also like to acknowledge my committee members: Dr. Diane Cress, Dr. David Pitts, Dr. Kequan Zhou for their time, support and feedback. I Thank the following who have assisted me in my research: Mike Saruna, John Sorge, Andrew James, Ali Beydoun, Hongzhi Ma, and Archana Unnikrishnan. A special remembrance to the late Dr. Lisa Lucente, her work became the inspiration and basis of my research. I thank the following lab members for their help and feedback: Sukayna Ismail, Rawia Khasawanah, Michelle Jones, Amanda Arrabi, and Tom Prychitko.



Dedication	ii
Acknowledgments	iii
List of Tables	vi
List of Figures	vii
Chapter 1: Background and Significance	1
Folate	1
Absorption	1
Folate metabolism	2
Folate and neural tube defects	4
Argument for fortification	4
Effectiveness of fortification	5
Controversies	5
Is Folate harmful?	6
Folate and cancer	6
Folate and colorectal cancer	8
Folate and mTOR	10
Folate studies	13
Chapter 2: Succinylsulfathiazole Modulates mTOR Signaling	23
Introduction	23
Experimental Procedures	24
Results	27
Discussion	30

# TABLE OF CONTENTS



Chapter 3: Timing and Duration of Folate Restriction Differentially In	mpacts Colon Carcinogenesis 42
Introduction	42
Experimental Procedures	43
Results	46
Discussion	55
Chapter 4: Summary and Future Directions	116
References	121
Abstract	145
Autobiographical Statement	146



# LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1: Primer Sequences	32
Table 3.1: Folate restriction alters plasma amino acids	84
Table 3.1: Effect of folate restriction on mTOR pathway genes	85



LIST	OF	FIGURE	S

Folate Metabolism2
CRC incidence post fortification10
mTOR Signaling
Figure 1.1: The effect of folate restriction on colon carcinogenesis in β-pol haploinsufficient mice
Figure 1.2: The effect dietary folate restriction on plasma folate levels at various timepoints19
Figure 1.3: The effect of folate in the diet on plasma folate levels in C57BL/6 mice21
Figure 2.1: 1% succinylsulfathiazole (SST) in the diet does not impact weight gain, food intake or folate levels in folate adequate c57BL/6 mice
Figure 2.2: Summary of the effect of folate restriction on expression of genes in the mTOR pathway
Figure 2.3: The mTOR signaling pathway
Figure 2.4: Succinylsulfathiazole alters expression of proteins involved in the PI3K/AKT/mTOR signaling in the liver of c57BL/6 mice resulting in an overall decreased mTOR signaling
Figure 2.5: Effect of SST on upstream regulators of mTOR in the liver of c57BL6 mice50
Figure 2.6: Effect of SST on relative expression of genes known to be altered by dietary folate status in the liver of mice
Figure 3.1: Study design
Figure 3.2: The effect of short-term and long-term folate restriction with/without antibiotic on animal weights in control and DMH treated animals
Figure 3.3: The effect of short-term and long-term folate restriction with/without antibiotic on serum folate levels in control and DMH treated animals
Figure 3.4: The effect of short-term and long-term folate restriction with/without antibiotic on liver folate levels in control and DMH treated animals



Figure 3.5: The effect of short-term and long-term folate restriction with/without antibiotic on colon folate levels in control animals	75
Figure 3.6: Long-term folate restriction protects against ACF formation	77
Figure 3.7: Gross abnormalities in FA DMH animals	79
Figure 3.8: The timing and duration of folate restriction has a differential effect on the occurrence of preneoplastic lesions ACF	81
Figure 3.9: Folate metabolism and one carbon cycle	83
Figure 3.10: Folate restriction reduces mTOR phosphorylation at the serine 2448 residue	86
Figure 3.11: Effect of folate restriction on mTOR auto phosphorylation at the serine 2481 residu	ue 88
Figure 3.12: Effect of folate restriction on PDK1 auto phosphorylation at the serine 241 residue	90
Figure 3.13: Effect of folate restriction on REDD1 protein expression	92
Figure 3.14: Effect of folate restriction on energy levels (ADP/ATP ratio)	94
Figure 3.15: Effect of folate restriction on AMPK phosphorylation at T172 residue	96
Figure 3.16: Effect of folate restriction on energy levels (NAD+/NADH ratio)	98
Figure 3.17: Effect of folate restriction on SIRT1 mRNA expression	00
Figure 3.18: Effect of folate restriction on 4E-BP phosphorylation at T37-46 residues	02
Figure 3.19: Effect of folate restriction on P-70 S6K1 phosphorylation	04
Figure 3.20: P-70 S6K1 signaling cascade and feedback mechanisms10	05
Figure 3.21: DNA methyltransferases role in methylation10	06
Figure 3.22: Effect of folate restriction on DNMT1 mRNA expression	08
Figure 3.23: Effect of folate restriction on DNMT3a mRNA expression11	10
Figure 3.24: Effect of folate restriction on DNMT3b mRNA expression11	12



### **CHAPTER 1: BACKGROUND AND SIGNIFICANCE**

# Folate

Folic acid, an essential water-soluble B vitamin also known as B9, was first discovered in the 1940's. The discovery came to light after the finding that a yeast extract corrected macrocytic anemia in pregnant women[1]. Most bacteria, yeast and plants can synthesize folates; however, animals require folate intake through the diet or through supplementation. Folate refers to compounds that include natural folates and folic acid, with folic acid (FA) referring to the fully oxidized form[1]. Folic acid, otherwise known as pteroylglutamic acid, was first extracted from spinach in 1941[2]. Chemical synthesis of folic acid first took place in 1943 by combining a pteridine ring, paraminobenzoic acid and glutamic acid[3]. Folate is essential for growth, homeostasis, and plays a critical role in cellular one carbon metabolism. Folate is involved in maintaining genomic integrity by regulating gene expression through methylation as well as purine and pyrimidine biosynthesis needed for repair and replication. Folate is also involved in amino acid metabolism, regeneration of the methyl donor S-adenosyl methionine, the antioxidant glutathione, as well as various critical cellular functions [4]. Folate deficiency is implicated in the pathogenesis of multiple diseases and conditions such as anemia, cardiovascular disease, neural tube defects, neurodegenerative diseases, cancer, and more [5]. Natural folates are found in adequate quantities in green leafy vegetables as well as legumes, fruits, yeast, and cereals. Animal food sources contain higher amounts of folates especially in liver and kidney [1].

#### Absorption

Absorption of folate from the diet occurs mainly in the proximal small intestine [1]. However, recent studies suggest that a significant amount of folate can be absorbed in the colon[6]. Absorption at the brush border occurs via a proton-coupled folate transporter (PCFT) and reduced



folate carriers (RFC) [1]. RFC is a membrane spanning transport protein that is necessary for the transport of folates. Some mutations of the gene encoding RFC can lead to alteration of folate and homocysteine levels [7]. The bioavailability of folates is dependent on multiple factors including dietary folate content, food sources and preparation methods. Various host factors such as mutations in the transporters or inflammatory conditions can limit absorption [1]. Folate absorption can be reduced through passage and destruction in the acidic environment of the stomach. Surviving folate must be reduced form the polyglutamate form to monoglutamate by folate conjugase to be absorbed. It is then converted back to the polyglutamate form and stored in the liver as well as secreted in the bile to be reabsorbed by enterohepatic recirculation [1].

# Folate metabolism





Folate refers to a diverse array of biological molecules that serve as cofactors in one carbon transfer and metabolism. Natural folates in the diet and in the body are found predominantly in the reduced form commonly as 5-methyl-THF [8]. Folic acid, a synthetic folate, must be reduced to dihydrofolate then further reduced to tetrahydrofolate (THF) by dihydrofolate reductase before entering the folate cycle. THF is the biologically active form of folate and serves as the starting point for one carbon transfer. THF picks up one carbon units from the conversion of serine to glycine catalyzed by the methylentetrahydrofolate dehydrogenase (MTHFD) with the vitamin B6 serving as a cofactor forming N5-N10-methylene-THF. As THF picks up the carbon units it then can be interconverted between various oxidative states leading to distinct metabolic outcomes. N5-N10-methylene THF provides carbon units to thymidylate synthase converting deoxyuridine monophosphate (dUMP) to deoxythymidine monophosphate (dTMP). Folate plays an essential role as a cofactor in the de novo biosynthesis of purines, thus maintaining DNA integrity during DNA synthesis, replication, and repair. N5-N10-methylene-THF is converted to10-formyl-THF, the most oxidized form of folate used in the de novo synthesis of purines, while 5-methyl-THF is used in the re-methylation of homocysteine to form methionine, the precursor of Sadenosylmethionine (SAM). SAM is involved in various biological methylations, most importantly the methylation of DNA and histones and epigenetic imprinting [9]. SAM is converted back to s-adenosylhomocysteine (SAH) and back to homocysteine. Due to the critical function of SAM, the SAM/SAH ratio is tightly controlled via numerous metabolic mechanisms and feedback loops. Dietary factors such as folate and methionine availability can affect SAM/SAH ratio leading to epigenetic alterations. Homocysteine, long considered to be a marker for various disease etiologies such as cardiovascular disease and cancer, is regulated by the transulfuration pathway.



Homocysteine undergoes irreversible degradation to cysteine and ultimately forming the antioxidant glutathione, an important regulator of cellular redox homeostasis[9].

#### Folate and neural tube defects

In 1998 the FDA mandated the addition of folic acid (FA) to all enriched cereal grain foods in order to reduce the incidence of neural tube defects in the offspring of women of childbearing age [10]. Folate rose to prominence after evidence for interventional trials and observational studies revealed that periconceptual folate supplementation protected against neural tube defects (NTD) [5]. This revelation led policymakers, the US health service, and the institute of medicine to recommend a daily intake of 400 ug folic acid to all women of childbearing age [5]. Soon after, the FDA mandated the fortification of all flour and uncooked cereal-grain products in the United States with 140 ug/100g of folic acid by 1998 [11], [12]. Similar recommendations were passed in Canada, Chile and Western Australia [5].

#### **Argument for fortification**

Folate supplementation was seen as safe and beneficial for disease prevention [13]. This argument was based on abundance of evidence from various studies linking folate deficiency to various diseases including, anemia, cardiovascular disease, neurological disease, cancer, neural tube defects (NTD), and low birth weight [13], [14]. Prior to FA fortification, targeted supplementation with FA in women at risk and of childbearing age failed to yield encouraging results due to failure to abide to the vitamin regimen. Despite the presence of massive education and awareness programs, the results did not translate into behavioral changes in the participants [5]. The risk of non-compliance with the recommendations was augmented by the fact that the neural tube closes during the fourth week of gestation, a time most women are unaware they are pregnant. These findings, along with the assumption that folate could provide additional health



benefits in the general population encouraged health policy advocates to push for generalized folic acid fortification [5].

# **Effectiveness of fortification**

The goal of the fortification program initiated in 1998 by the FDA was to increase daily intake of folates by about 100 ug/d while maintaining total intake under 1000 ug/d (safe upper limit of daily intake) [10]. However, recent studies revealed the predicted increase in folic acid from fortified food to be much higher (215-240 ug/d) [10]. Fortification lead to an equivalent decrease of homocysteine [13]. The effect of the fortification on NTD was significant as studies from the US and Canada showed a reduction of 15-50% in the incidence of NTD [13]. The dramatic decrease in NTD, however, cannot be solely attributed to the increase in folate levels due to fortification. Other factors such as improved nutrition and prenatal care had been playing a role in the steady decrease of NTD even before fortification began[5].

#### Controversies

For every neural tube defect prevention, several hundred thousand people are exposed to increased levels and intake of folic acid [15]. Animal studies show that a diet high in folate can affect DNA and histone methylation leading to epigenetic changes that can be inherited, affecting successive future generations[15]. Folic acid supplementation can lead to elevated levels of naturally occurring folates as well as unmetabolized folic acid in the blood [15]. There is currently a raging controversy among researchers on the risk vs benefit of supplementing the whole population with high levels of synthetic folates to reduce the risk of comparatively small number of neural tube defects[15]. In the United kingdom, it is estimated that for every neural tube defect prevention, there are up to three-quarter million people exposed to extra folic acid with similar ratios in the united states and Canada [15]. Furthermore, FA interventional studies did not support



that folate supplementation reduces cardiovascular and stroke risk [13]. The controversies surrounding FA has led many countries into adopting a more cautious approach to supplementation[16].

# Is Folate harmful?

Folate was deemed generally safe with almost no toxicities [5], however, its use in food fortification is controversial. High folate intake can mask vitamin B-12 deficiency, a condition with relatively high prevalence among the geriatric population [17]. Some argue that even moderate intake is capable of producing a masking effect, prompting several countries to delay or reject adopting folate fortification mandates [5]. FA intake raises concerns of negative adverse effects in various subpopulation groups that do not stand to benefit from supplementation [5]. Safety Data for long term exposure to high dose synthetic folates do not exist and is not well understood [5]. There is mounting evidence that FA may promote the growth and progression of existing preneoplastic or neoplastic lesions [18]. An increasing percentage of the population is exposed to folates in levels that exceeds the upper safety limit caused by fortification and additional supplementation [19]. Folate supplementation can interfere with and reduce the effectiveness of antifolate based chemotherapy [19]. FA can also interact with prescription drugs including seizure medications, anti-inflammatory therapies, and malaria medications[15][5]. Other evidence points to FA supplementation causing genetic instability through epigenetic changes and selection of disease alleles [20]. High levels of folic acid have been linked to an immune weakening effect by decreasing natural killer cell cytotoxicity[15]. Furthermore, there is evidence that folate supplementation to pregnant women can lead to increased risk of insulin resistance and obesity in their children[15].



### Folate and cancer

The link between folate and cancer was established shortly after folic acid discovery and extraction [1]. Folate impact on cancer is complex and at times contradictory [18], [19]. After FA was discovered in the 1940's, based on limited evidence, researchers attempted to administer FA to children with leukemia leading to accelerated progression and poor outcomes [13]. Researchers then learned that the proliferation of leukemia cells is dependent on the availability of the tetrahydrofolate metabolites leading to the successful use of folate antagonists such as aminopterin to produce full remission of children with acute leukemia [13]. Conversely, evidence from a number of studies suggest that folate deficiency can increase the risk of cancer in normal tissues while adequate folate levels has a protective effect on the risk of developing malignancies of various tissues [13][21].

There are multiple theories on how folate deficiency can induce carcinogenesis. These range from folate deficiency causing DNA strand breaks due to uracil misincorporation, alteration of DNA methylation patterns and gene expression, genomic instability and chromosomal aberrations [22]–[24]. Others point to impaired DNA repair pathways under folate deficiency, thus reducing DNA damage threshold and increasing the risk of transformation and mutations with or without the addition of DNA damage or insult [25]–[28].

More recently, FA fortification was linked to a significant decrease in neuroblastoma among children, however no change was detected in the incidence of infant acute lymphoblastic leukemia and hepatoblastoma [13]. A case control study from Germany shows that mothers supplementing with vitamins containing FA resulted in a decreased risk of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and some types of leukemia in their offspring, however, there was an increased risk of neuroblastoma [29]. Another study where pregnant women were supplemented with 5mg/day FA



showed a 70% increase in all cancer mortality and a doubling of breast cancer mortality risk[30]. Kim et al. observed that FA fortification in women who are pregnant or of childbearing age can potentially reduce the risk of certain childbood cancers in the offspring, however, this comes at the risk of promoting the growth and progression of undiagnosed, preneoplastic or neoplastic lesions [19].

#### Folate and colorectal cancer

Evidence from recent meta-analyses suggest a significant reduction of adenomas and colorectal cancer (CRC) when comparing subjects of the highest folate status with the lowest [13]. The Nurse's Health Study showed a 75% reduction in colorectal cancer in women taking multivitamins with folate [31]. The ASPIRIN/FOLATE polyp prevention study published in 2003 reported that FA supplementation at 1 mg/d had no effect on the recurrence of adenomas. However, there was a 67% increase in highly malignant advanced lesions at the second follow up [32]. Furthermore, there was a significant increase of other malignancies such as prostate cancer in the folate supplemented group. Despite a decrease in homocysteine among the FA subjects, cardiovascular risk was not decreased among the FA supplemented group [32].

Animal studies reveal a dual modulating effect of folate on colorectal cancer whereby the timing and dosage of folate can have contrasting results [33]. The results show that folate deficiency increases the risk of transformation, while modest supplementation reduces cancer risk, and high or supraphysiological doses increase it [13]. Furthermore there is evidence that folate supplementation can increase CRC risk after the establishment of microscopic neoplastic foci [5]. A possible explanation to this modulation is that folate deficiency in normal tissues can lead to uracil misincorporation due to the decrease in thymidylate synthesis causing DNA strand breaks, impaired repair and genomic instability [33]. Furthermore, folate deficiency can lead to aberrant



DNA methylation due to the possible decrease of S-adenosylmethionine leading to DNA methylation abnormalities [13]. A folate adequate diet is expected to correct these aberrations leading to a decrease in cancer risk. However, in preneoplastic or fully transformed lesions, folate deficiency can inhibit the growth requirements of a rapidly proliferating tissue, leading to decreased tumor growth and progression. At the same time, FA supplementation can provide the tumor with nucleotides leading to faster growth [34]. As evident from several studies, FA supplementation to individuals who might harbor microscopic undiagnosed preneoplastic lesions can lead to adverse outcomes by fueling cancer growth [32]. It is estimated that 25-50% of people in the US and Canada may carry asymptomatic adenomas by the age of 50 with the prevalence increasing with age [13]. Recent large studies reported a nonsignificant trend in total and colorectal cancer risk due to FA supplementation [13]. In the post fortification era, it is estimated that folate fortification has added about 200 ug/d FA through enriched products leading to a total intake of approximately 400 ug/day for non-supplement users and over 800 ug/day in individuals taking additional supplementation [13]. Other studies pointed out that these are likely to be underestimates indicating that a significant percentage of the population has high serum folates [13]. Analysis performed my Mason et al. shows that the United States and Canada had a reversal in the downward trend in colorectal cancer shortly after the FA mandate. The authors hypothesized that FA is wholly or partly responsible for the observed reversal in the trend, however, because of the study design, they could not determine causality [35].





Biomarkers & Prevention CRC incidence Post Fortification by Mason et al.[35]

# Folate and mTOR

Our early work with folate looked at the impact of folate deficiency on the initiation and progression of colon cancer in a polymerase  $\beta$  haploinsufficient ( $\beta$ -pol<sub>+/-</sub>) mouse model. We had originally established that folate restriction negatively impacts DNA base excision repair (BER), a critical pathway that is required to repair DNA oxidative damage and uracil misincorporation, by regulating the expression of its rate limiting enzyme  $\beta$ -pol [36], [37]. We then hypothesized that folate restriction in addition to  $\beta$ -pol haploinsufficiency will lead to an increased formation of aberrant crypt foci (ACF), a preneoplastic lesion, in response to the carcinogen dimethylhydrazine



(DMH). To our surprise, folate restriction in these animals conferred protection under these conditions (fig1.1) [38]. Analysis of tissue samples via BrdU and TUNEL assays revealed a decrease in proliferation and an increase in apoptosis in the colon of folate restricted animals [38]. We became interested in understanding how folate restriction (FR) can be protective in our colon cancer models and if that protection can persist under different conditions and genetic backgrounds. Analysis of the literature showed that other labs were observing that reduced dietary folate can confer protection against cancer as well as reducing inflammatory bowel disease in various lab rodent models [39]–[41]. We were looking for a missing link that can integrate signals from one carbon metabolism and affect proliferation, apoptosis and cancer, explaining our findings. Our breakthrough came about when analyzing microarray expression data comparing folate restricted animals to folate adequate. We saw that folate restriction significantly altered the expression of genes in the mTOR pathway. Analysis of plasma amino acid levels provided us with further evidence of the modulating effect of FR on various amino acids, specifically methionine, isoleucine and leucine. As mTOR is central to the pathways we were investigating, we were compelled to provide a mechanistic analysis of the effect of folate restriction on mTOR and colorectal cancer.

The mammalian target of rapamycin also known as the mechanistic target of rapamycin mTOR is a conserved serine/threonine protein kinase that integrates signals such as growth factors, amino acids, energy levels, and nutrient availability to modulate cell growth, proliferation, autophagy, and metabolism. mTOR is found in 2 distinct complexes mTORC1 and mTORC2. mTORC1 is rapamycin sensitive and is regulated by multiple upstream signals such as growth factors, amino acid availability, stress and hypoxia, and energy availability [42], [43]. mTORC2 is largely rapamycin insensitive and has different regulators and downstream targets than



complex1. mTOR became the focus of intensive research in recent years as this signaling pathway has been altered in various conditions such as cancer, diabetes, and aging [44]. More recently, mTOR has been found to be modulated by perturbation in one carbon metabolism and more specifically folate availability [45]. Folate was shown to activate the mTOR pathway via activation of the AKT pathway, phosphorylating mTOR and the downstream targets p70S6k1 and 4E-BP1 [46]. Furthermore, mTOR was found to be directly linked to one carbon metabolism. Researchers reported that mTORC1 could control the mitochondrial tetrahydrofolate cycle and induce purine synthesis as well as stimulate the generation of SAM [47], [48]. Rosario et al. observed that placing mice on folate free diet for 6 weeks produced marked inhibition of mTORC1 and mTORC2 in various tissues. Further inhibition of downstream targets of both complexes was also observed as well as decreased activity and expression of the amino acid transporters solute carrier (SLC) [49]. In other research, Rosario et al. suggested that mTOR may utilize the same amino acids sensing mechanism for folate sensing [50]. Similar findings linking folate levels to mTOR signaling, and amino acid transporter activity were confirmed in baboons and humans [49]–[51]. Furthermore, Rosario et al. provided evidence that mTOR can directly regulate folate transporters trafficking thus regulating cellular folate uptake [52].

mTOR signaling pathway:





# **Folate studies**

Our lab was interested in understanding how the timing and duration of folate restriction impacts colon carcinogenesis. Our initial studies in the  $\beta$  haploinsufficient ( $\beta$ -pol+/-) mouse model yielded the surprising result of folate restriction conferring protection against colon cancer initiation as seen in the reduced numbers of ACF (figure 1.1). To further understand how a folate depleted diet impacts folate levels over time, we conducted a study with semi synthetic AIN93G-purified isoenergetic diet. Chow diet was not considered suitable for folate studies as it can contain variable amounts of folates that range from 2-15mg/kg of diet. Our folate adequate semi synthetic diet contained 2 mg of folic acid per kg of diet and our folate depleted diet had no added folate.



Plasma folate decreased in the folate depleted (FD) group by the 3<sup>rd</sup> day on the diet and no further decrease was observed after the first week (figure 1.2). On average we observed a 90% decrease in plasma folate in animals fed FD diets (figure 1.3). The experiment was continued for 12 weeks and the animals did not exhibit any signs of anemia or pathologies. As a result, we termed this condition folate restriction rather than folate deficiency. Further pilot studies were conducted to study the effect of long-term folate restriction. After placing the animals on FD diets for 16 months, the animals did not display any signs of anemia and looked overall healthier than their FA counterparts. In a separate study, when we exposed long-term FD diet mice to the carcinogen dimethylhydrazine (DMH), the animals developed less ACF than the mice fed FA diet. This was in contradiction to our earlier studies and most published folate restriction studies [53]. It is important to point out that a review of the literature reveals that most studies investigating the effect of folate restriction on carcinogenesis place the animals on folate depleted diets for a relatively short duration before introducing the carcinogenic insult [54]. This short period of depletion does not allow the animals a chance to acclimate to folate restriction. To confirm the results, a larger experiment was designed to study the differential effect of the timing and duration of folate restriction on mice colon carcinogenesis. The animals were fed either a FA (2 mg FA/kg diet) diet, FR (0 mg FA/kg diet), or FA/FR (7 weeks on FA diet then 1 week on FR diet) for a total of 8 weeks. Animals were randomly chosen, exposed to DMH, and later sacrificed. As expected, we saw a significant (90%) decrease in folate levels in both the short term (FA/FR) and long term (FR) folate restricted groups as compared to controls (figure 1.4). Remarkably, long term folate restriction conferred protection on animals that acclimated to folate restriction for 8 weeks. We observed that placing the animals on a folate restricted diet for one-week (FA/FR) before initiating DMH treatment resulted in a significant increase in ACF compared to the folate adequate (FA)



animals. This finding was consistent with what is reported in the literature and our previous studies. However, animals on long term Folate restriction (FR) had less ACF in the colon compared to FA/FR animals (figure 1.5). This observation held true despite measured serum and tissue folate levels being comparably lower in both folate restricted groups (FA/FR) and (FR) compared to FA. We were faced with a paradox that begets the question: is all folate restriction disadvantageous with respect to CRC? And, how can the duration and the timing of folate restriction differentially impact the critical pathways that run amok in cancer? Furthermore, what other confounders are present in the standard models and study designs further skewing the results and leading to our incomplete understanding of the science?

To answer these questions, I began by examining the studies used to assess the effect of folate restriction on colon carcinogenesis. Many studies including ours resorted to the use of the antibiotic succinylsulfathiazole (SST) to reduce folate producing bacteria in the gut of the animals[36], [38]. SST radically alters the composition of the gut microbiome. We wondered if the use of SST can introduce a confounding element to our studies. The first part of my analysis addresses the potential of this antibiotic to alter critical pathways known to be affected by folate status such as mTOR, and oxidative stress. In this study, I analyzed the effect of SST on folate levels in folate adequate c57Bl/6 male mice fed folate supplemented diet. I did not observe any significant difference on growth and weight gain at 21 weeks. SST did not significantly affect folate levels in the plasma, liver and colon tissues of folate adequate mice, however it did alter energy metabolism and expression of key proteins in the mTOR signaling pathway in the liver. This research helps shed light on a possible confounding element when using SST to study folate depletion due to the potential overlap with multiple critical pathways such as mTOR.



In the second part of the analysis, I will address the findings that the timing and the duration of folate restriction has a differential effect on colon carcinogenesis. As stated previously, I observed that long term folate restriction (FR) conferred protection to animals compared to short term (FA/FR). My research will attempt to elucidate a mechanistic analysis of how short- and longterm folate restriction differentially impact the critical pathway of mTOR, upstream regulators and downstream targets as well select gene expression analysis. This analysis will be done on animals with no exposure to the antibiotic SST, therefore, with an intact microbiome.



Figure 1.1: *The effect of folate restriction on colon carcinogenesis in*  $\beta$ -*pol haploinsufficient mice.* Figure adapted from publication by Lucente et al [38]. WT and  $\beta$ -pol<sup>+/-</sup> C57BL/6 mice were fed either a folate-adequate (2 mg FA/kg diet) or a folate-deficient (0 mg FA/kg diet) diet. After 1 week on the respective diets, animals were randomly chosen and were injected with 30 mg/kg body weight of DMH for 6 weeks. Six weeks after the final injection, animals were sacrificed by CO<sub>2</sub> asphyxiation. The abdominal cavity was opened, and the colon was excised, rinsed with cold phosphate-buffered saline, cut longitudinally, and fixed flat overnight in 10% neutral buffered formalin. On the next day, the colonic crypts were stained with 2 g/liter of methylene blue in phosphate-buffered saline for 5 min. The number of ACF was determined by light microscopy at ×10 magnification in a blinded manner. Bars indicate S.E. (n=6). Different letters indicate significant differences at P < 0.05.





Figure 1.1: The effect of folate restriction on colon carcinogenesis in  $\beta$ -pol haploinsufficient mice.



Figure 1.2: *The effect dietary folate restriction on plasma folate levels at various timepoints.* C57BL/6 mice were fed either a folate adequate (FA) or folate depleted (FD) AIN93G-purified isoenergetic diet (Dyets, Inc., Lehigh Valley, PA) as previously described [32]. The FA group received a folate adequate diet containing 2 mg of folic acid/kg diet. The FD group received a folate-deficient diet containing 0 mg of folic acid/kg diet. The animals remained on their respective diets for the duration of the study. Blood was drawn from the capillary of the eye at various time points, and folate levels were analyzed using the lactobacillus casei microbiological assay [33]. (FA) represents the average value of folate levels for folate adequate fed mice normalized to 100%. The FD bars represent the average values of blood folate levels expressed as a percentage of FA levels at various time points. (n=6 per group). Bars represent S.E.M. Different letters indicate significant differences at P < 0.05.





Figure 1.2: The effect dietary folate restriction on plasma folate levels at various timepoints.

20

Folate Adequate Diet

Folate Deficient Diet



The animals were fed either a folate adequate (FA) or folate depleted (FD) AIN93G-purified isoenergetic diet (Dyets, Inc., Lehigh Valley, PA). The FA group received a folate adequate diet containing 2 mg of folic acid/kg diet. The FD group received a folate-deficient diet containing 0 mg of folic acid/kg diet. The animals remained on their respective diets for 12 weeks after which they were sacrificed. Plasma was collected and folate levels were analyzed using a lactobacillus casei microbiological assay. \* Significant differences at P < 0.05.



www.manaraa.com



Figure 1.3: The effect of folate in the diet on plasma folate levels in C57BL/6 mice.



# CHAPTER 2: SUCCINYLSULFATHIAZOLE MODULATES mTOR SIGNALING Introduction

The gut microbiome is a complex and diverse array of microorganisms that colonizes the digestive system. The gut microbiome of humans and other mammals have been extensively studied due to its profound effect on the health and disease of the host. Perturbations of the gut microbiome has been linked to various disease etiologies, including: metabolic diseases such as obesity and type 2 diabetes, autoimmune disorders, inflammation, allergies, cancer, and more [55]-[63]. The gut microbiota is responsible for producing a plethora of compounds and signaling molecules that facilitates the complex interactions with its host. These compounds include: branched chain fatty acids, organic acids, menaquinones (vitamin K), and some B vitamins[64], [65]. Specifically, the ability of certain bacteria in the gut to synthetize large amounts of folates is well documented [66], [67]. Others have shown that bacterial folate is easily absorbed and incorporated into the host folate stores in various tissues[6], [68]–[71]. The amount of folates produced by a healthy gut flora, specifically through fermentation in the large intestine, is diet dependent. In fact, diets rich in fermentable fibers have been shown to increase folate levels and decrease homocysteine in rats, while no effect was observed with non-fermentable fiber supplemented diets[72].

Other manipulation of the diet, such as the addition of antibiotics, can yield drastic changes to the gut microbiome[73]–[76]. Specifically, the addition of 1% succinylsulfathiazole (SST), a long-acting sulfonamide, can produce large shifts in the composition of the gut flora and its ability to synthetize folate[77], [78]. Succinylsulfathiazole is characterized by its poor absorption and localized antibacterial activity that is primarily limited to the gut[79]. It was used in the 1940s as gut antiseptic to lower the bacterial load and prevent infections after gut surgeries[77], [80], [81]. Similar to other sulfonamides in its class, SST works by inhibiting bacterial folate synthesis



through competitive inhibition with P-aminobenzoic acid (PABA)[82]. SST persists in the gut much longer than absorbable antibiotics and has no known systemic toxicities[83]. It is hydrolyzed slowly in the large intestines by bacterial esterases to the active form sulfathiazole[79]. The effect of SST on gut microbial density and folate production is well documented in earlier studies dating to the 1940's[77], [80], [81]. Since then, SST has been replaced clinically by more efficacious and potent antibiotics. However, researchers have used it extensively in various studies to reduce or limit the folate producing bacteria in various lab models[36], [84]–[86].

In our studies, we have used SST along with dietary folate restriction to study the impact of folate depletion on colon cancer initiation[87]. Specifically, we were concerned that the use of SST to induce a folate deficient status in rodents can modulate some of the same pathways that are affected by folate depletion. In the present study, we were interested in examining the long-term effects of SST in the liver of C57BL6 mice fed folate supplemented diets. We analyzed the Impact of SST on folate levels in serum, colon, and Liver tissues. We were specifically interested in investigating the effect of the antibiotic on the mTOR signaling pathway, a major growth regulator that converges signals form growth factors, amino acids, glucose, stress, and energy levels, and impacts cellular growth, autophagy, and proliferation.

#### **Experimental Procedures**

*Animals*- c57Bl/6 male specific pathogen free mice were purchased from Charles Rivers at 6 weeks of age (n=3). Animals were maintained in accordance with NIH guidelines for the use and care of laboratory animals. The Animal protocol was approved by the Wayne State University Animal Investigation Committee. They were fed the standard mouse chow and water ad libitum and were maintained on a 12-hr light/dark cycle until the start of the experiment. Mice were anesthetized in a CO2 chamber and the abdominal cavity was opened for excising the colon and harvesting the



liver tissue. Blood was obtained by cardiac puncture, centrifuged, and the serum separated. The harvested liver was flash frozen and stored in liquid nitrogen.

*Diets*- At 4 months of age, mice were randomly assigned to two dietary groups and fed AIN93Gpurified isoenergetic diets (Dyets, Inc., Lehigh Valley, PA)[88]. Diets were stored at -20°C. The control group received a folate adequate diet (2mg FA/kg diet for 21 weeks). The experimental group received a folate adequate diet supplemented with 1% succinyl sulfathiazole (2mg FA/kg diet + 1% succinyl sulfathiazole for 21 weeks).

*Folate Assay*- Serum, liver and colon mucosa were collected upon sacrifice. Folate was measured using the Lactobacillus casei microbiological assay of folic acid derivatives as described by Horne et. AI[89]. Briefly, growth response of lactobacillus casei to folate availability was measured at OD 600 nm. A standard curve was used to calculate folate concentrations. Folate levels are expressed as nmol/g.

*Isolation of Whole cell extract-* Whole cell extracts were isolated using RIPA buffer. Briefly, 50 mg of liver tissue was homogenized using RIPA buffer (1% Igepal, 0.5% Sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS, 1X PBS) combined with HALT protease inhibitor cocktail (Thermo Fisher). Whole cell extracts collected were stored at -80°C for further analysis.

Western Blot Analysis- Protein expression analysis was performed using the V3 western blot system from Bio-Rad. 50 µg of protein was loaded onto criterion TGX stain free precast Gels (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA). Gels were imaged using chemidoc XRS+ system then wet transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes. Membranes and Gels were imaged to verify complete transfer. Manufacturer recommended dilutions of anti-sera developed against various anti-bodies (cell signaling) were used to detect proteins of interest followed by incubation with HRP-conjugated secondary antibody (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA). The bands were visualized and



quantified using chemidoc XRS+ imager and Image lab software (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) after incubation in SuperSignal West Pico Chemiluminescent Substrate (Pierce Biotechnology, Rockford, IL). Data are expressed as adjusted band volume normalized to total lane proteins. Phosphorylated forms of proteins were normalized to total and expressed as ratio.

*Gene expression profiling-* The mRNA expression levels of various genes were quantified using a real-time PCR. Total RNA was extracted from liver tissue using RNeasy extraction kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA). First strand cDNA was synthesized from 1µg RNA using random primers and poly-A primers. Expression of each gene was quantified using real time PCR with specific primers for the gene. The gene transcript was normalized to GAPDH. External standards for all genes were prepared by subcloning the amplicons, synthesized using the specific primers into PGEM-T easy vector. Primer Sequences are listed in **Table 2.1**.

*ATP Assay-* ADP/ATP ratio was assessed using a luciferase based bioluminescent assay kit (Abcam). Briefly, 10 mg of liver tissue was quickly homogenized with nucleotide releasing buffer. Using a microplate reader, the homogenate was assayed per protocol to determine ATP induced luminescence. Then ADP converting enzyme was added and luminescence was further determined. Data are expressed at ADP/ATP ratio.

*NAD/NADH Assay*- NAD<sup>+</sup>/NADH was assayed using a fluorometric microplate reader assay (Abcam). 20 mg of liver tissue was homogenized in provided lysis buffer and supernatant was collected. Total NAD, NAD<sup>+</sup> and NADH were assayed per protocol. Fluorescence was measured at EX/EM=540/590 nm. Data are expressed at NAD<sup>+</sup> to NADH ratio.



*Statistical Analysis*- Statistical significance between means was determined using t-test and analysis of variance followed by post tukey test wherever appropriate. P-values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

# Results

#### Antibiotic in the Diet and its Effect on Weight gain, Serum, Liver and Colon Folate Levels:

The purpose of this study was to analyze the potential confounding effect of antibiotics used to induce folate depletion in mouse folate studies. Since antibiotics have been used non-therapeutically in animal husbandry to promote weight gain and growth[90], we were interested in examining the long-term (21 weeks) effect of SST on animal weights. We monitored weight gain weekly for the duration of the study, however there was no difference after 21 weeks on the diets (**Figure 2.1 a**). The animals grew normally and did not exhibit any gross anomalies. We also did not observe any differences in food consumption (**Figure 2.1 b**) between the control and experimental groups.

We were interested in determining whether long term SST alone influences folate levels in the animals. As expected, we did not observe any significant difference in tissue specific folate levels between animals fed control (folate supplemented) diet and treated (folate supplemented + 1% SST) diet (**Figure 2.1 c**). Liver folate levels were highest (control: 48.1 ng/ml, treatment: 53.7 ng/ml) compared to serum (control: 32.7 ng/ml, treatment: 34.1 ng/ml), and colon folate (control: 4.2 ng/ml, treatment: 2.8 ng/ml). This is consistent with findings of previous studies. SST is known to competitively inhibit folate uptake in the colon due to structural similarities to folic acid, however we did not see a significant difference in colon folate levels in the AB treated group. In contrast, animals fed a folate restricted diet with 1% SST for 21 weeks exhibited a significant


decrease of folate levels in plasma, liver and colon (**Figure 2.1 c**). Thus, we show here that SST alone does not significantly affect liver, serum and colon folate levels.

Our lab has previously shown that folate depletion provides protection against colon carcinogenesis in  $\beta$ -pol haploinsufficient mice[87]. We have also seen that folate status in the diet alters expression of genes in mTOR signaling (**Figure 2.2**); a major nutrient sensing pathway that has been implicated in cancer and aging. Since SST is widely used in folate depletion mouse studies, it became critical to understand the effect of SST alone on mTOR signaling.

#### Antibiotic Effect on the PI3K/AKT/mTOR Signaling Pathway:

mTOR, mammalian target of rapamycin, is a conserved serine/threonine protein kinase downstream of the PI3K/AKT signaling pathway[43]. It is present in two multiprotein complexes (mTORC1 and mTORC2) and integrates signals from multiple upstream factors such as insulin, hormones, cytokines, growth factors, stress, hypoxia, glucose, energy and amino acid levels (**Figure 2.3**). mTORC1 specifically is a key player in regulating multiple downstream processes such as cell growth, proliferation and autophagy[91]. mTOR signaling has been shown to be dysregulated in various cancers and is a key target in multiple life extension strategies[44], [92], [93]. Since our array data previously showed that mTOR signaling is reduced under FR (**Figure 2.2**) it became crucial to determine whether SST has a confounding effect on the expression of proteins in this pathway.

PDK1 (3-phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase 1) is an upstream activator of mTORC1 in the IRS-1/PI3K/AKT pathway. It phosphorylates AKT at the Thr308 residue, inhibiting the TSC1/TSC2 complex and activating mTORC1[94]. mTORC2 on the other hand phosphorylates AKT (Ser473) as a feedback mechanism activating mTORC1. SST alone significantly decreases expression of PDK1 protein in our folate adequate model (**Figure 2.4 a**),



has no effect on AKT expression (**Figure 2.4 b**) and significantly decreases phosphorylation of mTORC1 at the ser2448 residue (**Figure 2.4 c-d**).

We examined the role of SST and its effect on mTORC1 regulation of protein synthesis and autophagy (**Figure 2.3**). The main characterized substrates of mTORC1 in regulating translation are S6K1 (ribosomal p70 S6 protein kinase) and 4E-BP1 (eukaryotic initiation factor 4E-binding protein 1)[94]. In line with decreased mTORC1 expression, we saw that SST significantly decreases 4E-BP1 phosphorylation (**Figure 2.4 e**) but does not influence S6K1 phosphorylation (**Figure 2.4 f**). We looked at the effect of SST on the expression of autophagy related proteins Beclin, ATG5 and LCIII and we did not observe any differences (**Figure 2.4 g-i**). Observing that SST alters expression of proteins in the PI3K/AKT/mTOR signaling pathway, we were interested in understanding whether it alters other upstream regulators of TOR signaling, specifically regulators of stress and energy metabolism.

#### The effect of SST on upstream regulators of mTOR:

The mTOR signaling pathway is directly altered in response to hypoxia, DNA damage and energy status[91]. REDD1 (regulated in development and DNA damage response 1) is induced following exposure to hypoxia, DNA damage and other environmental stresses such as energy stress and reactive oxygen species[95], [96]. An increase in REDD1 levels lead to the activation of TSC1/TSC2 complex and inhibition of mTORC1 (**Figure 2.3**). Interestingly, REDD1 protein expression in the liver significantly increases in response to SST (**Figure 2.5 a**), consistent with the inhibition of mTOR seen (**Figure 2.4 c**).

The mTOR signaling pathway has also been shown to be altered in response to energy status[97]. AMPK, a metabolic fuel gauge that detects changes in intracellular AMP/ATP ratio, directly inhibits mTORC1[98]. It is activated in response to nutrient depletion and acts to maintain



energy stores by switching on pathways that produce ATP and switching off pathways that consume ATP[97]. AMPK also enhances SIRT1 activity by increasing cellular levels of NAD<sup>+</sup> [99]. NAD cycles between the oxidized (NAD<sup>+</sup>) and reduced forms (NADH), partaking a central role in cellular metabolism and energy production. We observed a significant decrease in ADP/ATP ratio (**Figure 2.5 b**) and AMPK phosphorylation (**Figure 2.5 c**) in response to SST. However, we did not see an effect on SIRT1 expression (**Figure 2.6**) or NAD<sup>+</sup>/NADH levels (**Figure 2.5 d**) in the SST fed group. Our study sheds light on SST affecting expression of multiple regulators of mTOR independent of folate status in the diet.

## Discussion

Recently, various laboratories began uncovering the complex interactions between the gut microbiome and the host [56], [58]–[61], [64], shedding new light on the importance of these microorganisms on the overall health. Antibiotic use in laboratory models can introduce significant confounding elements to an experiment due in part to the perturbation of the intestinal microbiome[74], [75], [100].

In our current study, the antibiotic alone did not influence serum and liver folate levels. We did however see a non-significant decrease in colon folate in the SST group, possibly due to the localized effect of the antibiotic on the gut flora. Since SST is used to deplete folate in folate restriction studies directly impacting one Carbon metabolism[36], [84]–[86], we were interested in looking at the effect of the antibiotic alone on the expression of genes in the transulfuration pathway. SST did not have a significant effect on the expression of cystathione-beta-synthase (CBS) the rate limiting enzyme in the transulfuration pathway or on the expression of anti-oxidant genes (TRX, TRXR, PRDX, OGG1, GPX1, GPX3, SOD and CAT) (**Figure 2.6**).



Analysis of cellular energy levels revealed an increase in energy availability (decrease of ADP/ATP ratio) in SST fed mice. This was consistent with decreased activation of the cellular energy gauge AMPK. Conversely, we did not observe a change in NAD<sup>+</sup>/NADH ratio consistent with SIRT1 mRNA expression.

Analysis of protein expression of targets in the mTOR signaling pathway revealed decreased activation upstream (PDK1), at both phosphorylated residues of mTOR (ser2448, ser2481), and at the downstream target (4ebp1). We looked at the expression of a downstream target of S6K1 important in cell cycle regulation and proliferation, P16[94], but we did not see any significant difference (**Figure 2.6**). Interestingly, we saw increased activation of REDD1, an inhibitor of mTOR signaling that responds to stress and hypoxia. Paradoxically, increased energy levels leading to the inactivation of AMPK did not result in upregulating mTOR.

Since SST is poorly absorbed, we suspect that the effect we saw is mediated through the perturbation of the intestinal microflora, where further research is warranted. Recently, the gut microbiome has been linked to complex interactions that affect almost all physiological functions including but not limited to metabolism, immunity, inflammation, stress, and cancer [58], [60], [61], [79]. This research helps shed light on a possible confounding element when using SST to study folate depletion due to the potential overlap with multiple critical pathways such as mTOR.



Table 2.1: Primer Sequences

Gene	Forward Primer 5'-3'	Reverse Primer 5'-3'
Gadd45g	AGTTCCGGAAAGCACAGCC AGGATG	GCCAGCACGCAAAAGGTCACATT GT
GAPDH	GCACAGTCAAGGCCGAGA	ATGGGGGCATCGGCAGA
Sirt1	TGATTGGCACCGATCCTCG	CCACAGCGTCATATCATCCAG
TRXR	CTATTCAGCAGAGCGGTTCC	ACATTCCAAGGCGACATAGG
GPX1	CGAAGTGAATGGTGAGAAG G	TCAAAGTTCCAGGCAATGTC
PRDX6	AGCAGGTCCGTAGAAAGAT CG	TCAAAGAGAGCCAGTCAGTAGG
TRX	CTGATCGAGAGCAAGGAAG C	TCATCCACATCCACTTCAAGG
OGG1	CGGCTGGCATCCTAAGACAT C	AACAGGCTTGGTTGGCGAAGG
GPX3	CCATTTGGCTTGGTCATTCT GG	TCCCCGTTCACATCTCCTTTC
CAT	CTACCCGGACACTCACCGCC	GGGGCACCACCCTGGTTGTCA
SOD1	AACCAGTTGTGTGTGTCAGGA C	CCACCATGTTTCTTAGAGTGAGG
CBS	CACAGTGCTGACCAAATCCC CC	CACACTTGGCCAAGAGCTCAC
CTH	GCTAGAGGCAGCGATTACA CC	GCAGACATGAAGGTGTTATCTAC AACC



Figure 2.1: 1% succinylsulfathiazole (SST) in the diet does not impact weight gain, food intake or folate levels in folate adequate c57BL/6 mice.

a) Average mouse weights at the beginning of the experiment and after 21 weeks on respective AIN93G semi synthetic diets (Control= folate adequate diet (2 mg folate/kg diet), Treatment= folate adequate diet (2 mg folate/kg diet) + SST). b) Average food consumption at the beginning and at the end of the study. c) Folate levels (nmol/g) in the serum, liver and colon of mice fed control and treatment diets compared to folate levels in mice fed a folate restricted diet (0 mg folate/ kg diet) with 1% SST (FR +AB). (n=3). Bars, S.E.M, \*P < 0.05.





С



Figure 2.1: 1% succinylsulfathiazole (SST) in the diet does not impact weight gain, food intake or folate levels in folate adequate c57BL/6 mice.

50

а

Figure 2.2: Summary of the effect of folate restriction on expression of genes in the mTOR pathway.

Data adapted from Lucente et al [38]. Gene expression shown as fold change in  $\beta$ -pol<sup>+/-</sup> DMH/folate restricted and WT/folate restricted compared to WT/folate adequate. differentially expressed genes from colon mucosa were analyzed using the Agilent Whole Mouse Genome oligonucleotide microarray containing probes for over 41,000 well characterized genes and analyzed with Agilent Feature Extraction software, version A.5.1.1. The false discovery rate for FDWT was 5.1%, 1.7% for FDWT DMH treated, and 0.39% for FD  $\beta$ -pol+/- DMH-treated experimental groups. Gene ontology analysis was performed using the Gene Ontology Tree Machine (GOTM) (Bioinformatics, Vanderbilt University). Single gene set analysis was performed, where GOTM compares the distribution of single gene sets in each GO category to those in an existing reference gene list from the mouse genome, identifying GO categories with statistically significant enriched gene numbers as determined by the hypergeometric test (p < 0.01).n=4 per group, P<0.01 where value is dispayed; ns, no significant difference

	5	1 50			
			$\beta\text{-pol}^{+/\text{-}}$	WT	
Accession No.	Gene Symbol	Gene Name	DMH/FR	FR	
NM_133781	Cab39	Calcium binding protein 39	2.1	-1.2	
NM_011492	Stk11	Serine/threonine kinase 11	1.2	-1.2	
BC043920	Frap1	FK506 binding protein 12-rapamycin associated protein 1	-1.8	-1.3	
AK029196	4921505C17Rik	RIKEN cDNA 4921505C17 gene	2.1	1.5	
AK129326	4932417H02Rik	RIKEN cDNA 4932417H02 gene	-1.5	ns	
NM_007918	Eif4ebp1	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E binding protein 1	ns	ns	

# Summary of the effect of folate restriction on mTOR pathway genes



Figure 2.3: The mTOR signaling pathway.





Figure 2.4: Succinylsulfathiazole alters expression of proteins involved in the PI3K/AKT/mTOR signaling in the liver of c57BL/6 mice resulting in an overall decreased mTOR signaling. Western blot images and quantification of: a-b) phosphorylation of upstream regulators of mTOR (PDK-1 (ser241) and AKT(ser473)), c-d) mTOR phosphorylation at ser2448 and ser2481 residues, e-f) phosphorylation of downstream targets of mTOR (4ebp1 (thr37/46) and s6k1(thr421/ser424)), and g-i) expression of autophagy related proteins (beclin, atg5 and cleaved lc3) in the liver of mice fed control and treatment diets. Protein expression analysis was performed using the V3 western blot system from Bio-Rad. Mice were placed on respective AIN93G semi synthetic diets for 21 weeks; Control= folate adequate diet (2 mg folate/kg diet), Treatment= folate adequate diet (2 mg folate/kg diet) + SST) n=3 per group; Bars, S.E.M., \* P < 0.05.





Figure 2.4: Succinylsulfathiazole alters expression of proteins involved in the PI3K/AKT/mTOR signaling in the liver of c57BL/6 mice resulting in an overall decreased mTOR signaling.



*Figure 2.5: Effect of SST on upstream regulators of mTOR in the liver of c57BL6 mice.* a) Western blot image and quantification of REDD1 protein expression, b) ADP/ATP ratio, c) western blot image and quantification of AMPK (thr172) protein phosphorylation and d) NAD<sup>+</sup>/NADH levels. n=3 per group,Bars S.E.M., \* P < 0.05.





Figure 2.5: Effect of SST on upstream regulators of mTOR in the liver of c57BL6 mice.



Figure 2.6: Effect of SST on relative expression of genes known to be altered by dietary folate status in the liver of mice (Treatment: Control).

Analysis of mRNA levels in liver of FA SST and FA mice. Mice were placed on respective AIN93G semi synthetic diets for 21 weeks; Treatment= folate adequate diet (2 mg folate/kg diet) + SST), Control= folate adequate diet (2 mg folate/kg diet). Expression of the genes was determined using a real time PCR technique and the level was normalized to Gapdh expression as described under "Experimental Procedures". Data was expressed as box plots representing fold ratio of treatment/control. No significant differences were observed. n=3 per group; Bars, S.E.M., \* P < 0.05, Bars S.E.M.





www.manaraa.com

CHAPTER 3: Timing and Duration of Folate Restriction Differentially Impacts Colon Carcinogenesis

### Introduction

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the second most common reported cancer in western societies [101]. The majority of CRC are due to sporadic causes and are not linked to specific mutations [102]. Diet plays a crucial role in the risk and development of CRC [103]. Notably, folates, contained in vegetables and leafy greens have been associated with a protective effect [19]. Folate relevance came to light due to findings that folates reduce NTD, leading to the mandatory fortification of cereals and grains [11]. Folates are crucial to purines and pyrimidine synthesis, as well as remethylating homocysteine to methionine [104]. Low dietary folates can lead to uracil misincorporation in the DNA resulting in double strand breaks, and impaired methylation leading to genetic instability and inducing transformation [22], [105].

Research into the effect of folate restriction on colon carcinogenesis has yielded conflicting results. Considerable evidence from the literature suggests that high dietary folates reduced CRC risk while low folate induces it [33], [106]. However, there have been many discordant results reported in animal studies and from large epidemiological and case control studies [32], [33], [13], [5]. These studies raised concerns that the consequences of the mandatory folate fortification could lead to detrimental outcomes for a large subset of the population.

Our lab previously showed that a folate depleted diet in a  $\beta$ -pol haploinsufficient mouse model provided protection against CRC initiation as seen in reduced incidences of preneoplastic lesions (ACF) [87]. Others were able to show that folate restriction protected against intestinal tumorigenesis in various lab rodent models [39]–[41], [107]. In this study, we show that long term folate restriction protects against initiation of tumorigenesis in male c57Bl/6 mice. We observed



that placing mice on one week of folate restricted diet before initiating carcinogenic (FA/FR) treatment produced more ACF compared to animals allowed to acclimate to folate restriction for 8 weeks (FR). Analysis of the mTOR signaling pathway and DNA methyltransferases revealed a divergent effect between long-term folate restriction FR compared to short-term FA/FR. Our results indicate that the timing and duration of folate restriction has a differential effect on colon tumorigenesis.

#### **Experimental procedures**

*Animals*- c57Bl/6 male specific pathogen free mice were purchased from Charles Rivers at 6 weeks of age. Animals were maintained in accordance with NIH guidelines for the use and care of laboratory animals. The Animal protocol was approved by the Wayne State University Animal Investigation Committee. They were fed the standard mouse chow and water ad libitum and were maintained on a 12-hr light/dark cycle until the start of the experiment. Mice were anesthetized in a CO2 chamber and the abdominal cavity was opened for excising the colon and harvesting the liver tissue. Blood was obtained by cardiac puncture, centrifuged, and the serum separated. The harvested liver was flash frozen and stored in liquid nitrogen.

*Diets*- At 4 months of age, mice were randomly assigned to two dietary groups and fed AIN93Gpurified isoenergetic diets (Dyets, Inc., Lehigh Valley, PA)[88]. Diets were stored at -20°C. The control group received a folate adequate diet (2mg FA/kg diet for 8 weeks). The experimental groups: (FA/FR) received (2mg FA/kg diet for 7 weeks then 0 mg folic acid/kg diet for 1 week for a total of 8 weeks), and (FR) received a folate deficient diet (0 mg folic acid/kg diet for 8 weeks). Control and experimental groups were further divided equally into diets supplemented with either 1% of the antibiotic succinylsulfathiazole or antibiotic free diets.



*Carcinogen treatment-* After 8 weeks on the respective diets, mice were treated IP with 1, 2dimethylhydrazine HCl (DMH, 30 mg/kg body weight) in 10 mmol/liter of NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (Fisher Scientific) once a week for 6 weeks. The animals were monitored for signs of toxicity and remained on their respective diets for an additional 7 weeks.

*Aberrant crypt foci (ACF) analysis*- The excised colons were rinsed with cold phosphate-buffered saline, cut longitudinally, and fixed flat overnight in 10% neutral buffered formalin. The fixed colons were stained with 2g/liter of methylene blue in phosphate-buffered saline for 5 mins. The number of ACF and aberrant crypts per foci were determined by light microscopy at 10X magnification in a blinded manner as described previously [36], [87]

*Folate Assay*- Serum, liver and colon mucosa were collected upon sacrifice. Folate was measured using the Lactobacillus casei microbiological assay of folic acid derivatives as described by Horne et. Al[89]. Briefly, growth response of lactobacillus casei to folate availability was measured at OD 600 nm. A standard curve was used to calculate folate concentrations. Folate levels are expressed as nmol/g.

*Isolation of Whole cell extract-* Whole cell extracts were isolated using RIPA buffer. Briefly, 50 mg of liver tissue was homogenized using RIPA buffer (1% Igepal, 0.5% Sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS, 1X PBS) combined with HALT protease inhibitor cocktail (Thermo Fisher). Whole cell extracts collected were stored at -80°C for further analysis.

Western Blot Analysis- Protein expression analysis was performed using the V3 western blot system from Bio-Rad. 50 µg of protein was loaded onto criterion TGX stain free precast Gels (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA). Gels were imaged using chemidoc XRS+ system then wet transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes. Membranes and Gels were imaged to verify complete transfer. Manufacturer recommended dilutions of anti-sera developed against various anti-bodies (cell



signaling) were used to detect proteins of interest followed by incubation with HRP-conjugated secondary antibody (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA). The bands were visualized and quantified using chemidoc XRS+ imager and Image lab software (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) after incubation in SuperSignal West Pico Chemiluminescent Substrate (Pierce Biotechnology, Rockford, IL). Data are expressed as adjusted band volume normalized to total lane proteins. Phosphorylated forms of proteins were normalized to total and expressed as ratio.

*Gene expression profiling*- The mRNA expression levels of various genes were quantified using a real-time PCR. Total RNA was extracted from liver tissue using RNeasy extraction kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA). First strand cDNA was synthesized from 1µg RNA using random primers and poly-A primers. Expression of each gene was quantified using real time PCR with specific primers for the gene. The gene transcript was normalized to GAPDH. External standards for all genes were prepared by subcloning the amplicons, synthesized using the specific primers into PGEM-T easy vector.

*ATP Assay-* ADP/ATP ratio was assessed using a luciferase based bioluminescent assay kit (Abcam). Briefly, 10 mg of liver tissue was quickly homogenized with nucleotide releasing buffer. Using a microplate reader, the homogenate was assayed per protocol to determine ATP induced luminescence. Then ADP converting enzyme was added and luminescence was further determined. Data are expressed at ADP/ATP ratio.

*NAD/NADH Assay*- NAD<sup>+</sup>/NADH was assayed using a fluorometric microplate reader assay (Abcam). 20 mg of liver tissue was homogenized in provided lysis buffer and supernatant was collected. Total NAD, NAD<sup>+</sup> and NADH were assayed per protocol. Fluorescence was measured at EX/EM=540/590 nm. Data are expressed at NAD<sup>+</sup> to NADH ratio.



*Statistical Analysis*- Statistical significance between means was determined using t-test and analysis of variance followed by post tukey test wherever appropriate. P-values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

# Results

#### **Study Design and Rationale**

Folate requirements in mice is not well defined. It is estimated that the minimum satisfactory requirement for folic acid based on early mouse studies to be around 0.5 mg/kg diet [108]. Modern rodent diets add a minimum of 2 mg/kg diet folic acid to the standard formulations [109]. Chow diets contain variable amounts of folic acid ranging from 2-15 mg/kg diet and averaging about 8 mg folic acid/kg diet. Mice fed a folate deficient diet experience a quick reduction in serum folate levels by as much as 60% after 3 days and is further reduced by 90% after 1 week. Maintaining the animals on a folate deficient diet does not yield any additional reduction in serum folates after 12 weeks (fig1.3). As a result, rodent studies investigating the effect of folate restriction typically do not maintain the animals on folate deficient diets for extended periods. A long-term folate restriction aging study conducted by our lab was able to maintain the mice on a folate depleted diet for over 32 months with the mice exhibiting better health and survival than their folate supplemented counterparts (unpublished data). We hypothesized that the animals might be getting trace amounts of folates from the casein-based AIN-93G diet as well as a result of gut bacterial fermentation and coprophagy. Since the animals did not exhibit any signs of anemia in any of our previous experiments, and no further reduction of serum folate levels was observed after the first week, we termed the condition folate restriction (FR) rather than folate deficiency (FD). For the purpose of this study, we chose a semi synthetic AIN-93G diet allowing us to manipulate the formulation while delivering consistency. The control



group received a folate adequate diet (2mg FA/kg diet for 8 weeks). The experimental groups: (FA/FR) received 2mg FA/kg diet for 7 weeks then 0 mg folic acid/kg diet for 1 week for a total of 8 weeks, and (FR) received a folate deficient diet (0 mg folic acid/kg diet for 8 weeks). Control and experimental groups were further divided equally into diets supplemented with either 1% of the antibiotic succinylsulfathiazole SST (ABx+) or antibiotic free diets (ABx-) (fig 3.1). Succinylsulfathiazole (SST), a long-acting sulfonamide, works by inhibiting bacterial folate synthesis through competitive inhibition with P-aminobenzoic acid (PABA)[82]. After 8 weeks on the respective diets, mice were treated IP with 1,2-dimethylhydrazine (DMH) once a week for 6 weeks. DMH, an alkylating agent, is a potent colon and liver carcinogen that is extensively used to model colon carcinogenesis in rodents [110]–[114]. Animals remained on their respective diets until they were sacrificed at 21 weeks. There was no difference in food consumption and animal weights between experimental groups and their respective controls at various time points in the experiment (fig3.2).

#### Effect of folate restriction on folate levels in plasma, liver, and colon.

Folate levels were measured using the Lactobacillus casei microbiological assay of folic acid derivatives as described by Horne et. AI[89]. As expected, serum folate levels decreased significantly as a result of both short (FA/FR) and long-term (FR) diets compared to folate adequate (FA) diets in both control (CONT) and DMH treated animals (DMH) (fig3.3). The reduction of serum levels was not significantly different between FA/FR and FR animals. Animals fed diets containing 1% SST (ABx+) showed a greater decrease in serum folate levels when compared to mice without the antibiotic (ABx-). DMH had no effect on serum folate levels across all groups except for the FR DMH ABx+ group, where folate levels were too low to be assayed. Likewise, we observed an equal and significant reduction in liver folate levels under both FA/FR



and FR conditions compared to FA. The addition of SST further reduced folate levels in the folate restricted control groups and more significantly in the DMH treated animals (fig3.4). Analysis of the folate levels in the colons of control animals revealed a similar pattern to the liver and serum. Folate levels significantly decreased to the same extent in both FA/FR and FR animals compared to FA (fig3.5). Animals fed folate deficient diets supplemented with SST experienced a more pronounced decrease in folate levels in the colons. Folate data were not collected from DMH animals as the colons were stained for ACF screening. A marked decrease of folates was observed in the serum of mice fed a folate deficient diet compared to the liver and significant effect on folate levels in all tissues examined owing to its ability to significantly reduce the number of folate producing bacteria in the gut. As established previously, since SST perturbs the intestinal microbiome and potentially confounds our analysis, we conducted all further mechanistic analysis on non-SST supplemented samples.

#### Long-term folate restriction protects against preneoplastic lesions initiation

A quick review of the literature regarding the association between folates and colon carcinogenesis reveals an abundance of data linking low folates to adverse outcomes and cancer initiation [9], [18], [32], [115]. This view, however, has been challenged by emerging studies revealing that the relationship between folates and cancer is much more complex than initially perceived [116]. There is mounting evidence that low folate may protect against spontaneous and chemically induced cancer [107], [117], [118]. Various epidemiological studies have linked elevated folates with a higher incidence of several cancers including colon cancer[20], [35], [119]. In this experiment we wanted to assess the effect of the timing and duration of folate restriction on colon cancer initiation. The colons of mice treated with DMH were screened for the development



of aberrant crypt foci (ACF), a preneoplastic lesion representing the initial stages of cancer initiation and development. We established in earlier experiments that folate restriction alone was insufficient to induce spontaneous preneoplastic lesions in our mouse model. Weekly DMH injections at 30mg/kg body weight for 6 weeks was adequate to induce ACF in c57Bl/6 mice. 7 weeks after the final injection, the mice were sacrificed, and the colons were stained and scored for ACF. Consistent with most published studies, we observed that placing the animals on a folate restricted diet for one week (FA/FR) before initiating the carcinogenic insult resulted in significantly more ACF compared to animals fed a folate supplemented diet. However, mice placed on 8 weeks of a folate (FR) depleted diet were protected as evident in significantly less ACF developed compared to (FA/FR) (Fig3.6). We even observed a non-significant decrease in the number of ACF when comparing FR to FA. Furthermore, upon sacrifice, we observed major pathologies in (FA) DMH animals in the form of large gastric tumors, liver nodules, and atrophied and inflamed colons (fig3.7). Our results show that the timing and duration of folate restriction has a differential effect on colon cancer initiation. Despite an equal decrease in serum, as well as tissue folate levels under short (FA/FR) and long-term (FR) folate restriction, FR conferred protection to c57bl/6 mice that acclimated to a folate restricted diet.

#### FR modulates the mTOR pathway

Previously published studies from our lab revealed that combining  $\beta$ -pol haploinsufficiency with folate restriction reduces ACF formation [87]. This was concurrent with decreased proliferation and increased apoptosis in the FR mice. Further studies from our lab confirmed that long term folate restricted mice had reduced proliferation in the colon compared to FA. Microarray analysis of the colon provided us with important clues that could uncover the responsible underlying mechanisms. Interestingly, the expression of the mechanistic target of



rapamycin (mTOR) was significantly reduced by FR [87] (table 3.2). We became interested in investigating mTOR as a potential driver behind the effects of folate restriction as a major switch balancing growth and proliferation with autophagy and apoptosis.

Western blot analysis revealed reduced activation of mTOR in the liver under both FA/FR and FR as evident in reduced phosphorylation of the ser2448 residue (fig3.11). mTOR is phosphorylated at ser2448 via the IGF/PI3K/AKT signaling pathway. In DMH treated animals, FA/FR and FR show a significantly reduced level of mTOR ser2448 phosphorylation compared to FA mice. No difference is observed in the level of ser2448 phosphorylation between FA/FR and FR. No difference was observed at the auto phosphorylation site of mTOR, ser2481. This residue is considered rapamycin insensitive and is not regulated by the IGF/PI3K/AKT signaling cascade [120][121] (fig3.12). To investigate if mTOR is downregulated through inhibition of the IGF pathway, we looked at the phosphorylation of PDK1. Phosphorylation of PDK at Ser241 is crucial for the activation of the AKT pathway and the downstream mTOR target S6k1 [122]. Surprisingly, in DMH treated animals, we observed a significant increase in phosphorylation of PDK1 in FR, but not in FA/FR as compared to FA mice. We then looked at REDD1 levels, a marker of hypoxia and DNA damage. REDD1 regulates mTOR through activation of the inhibitory TSC1/TSC2 complex leading to downregulation of mTOR. REDD1 expression was attenuated in both FA/FR and FR DMH treated animals as compared to FA DMH (fig3.14). Our finding indicates that mTOR inhibition is not mediated through IGF/PI3K/AKT or REDD1 signaling.

We had established in earlier experiments that folate restriction disrupts energy pools and can affect the energy gauge AMPK [123]. AMPK detects changes in the intracellular AMP/ATP ratio and is activated under nutrient depletion to inhibit anabolic pathways that consume ATP and induce ATP production [97]. AMPK is an important regulator of mTOR, activating the inhibitory



TSC1/TSC2 complex as well as directly inhibiting mTOR by phosphorylating the critical binding subunit raptor [124]. AMPK can neutralize the PI3K activation of mTORC1 as well as enhance SIRT1 activity by increasing cellular levels of NAD+ (FIG 2.3). ADP/ATP ratio serves as a proxy indicator for energy availability. In both controls and DMH animals we saw a decrease in the ADP/ATP ratio in FA/FR compared to FA and FR indicating increased energy availability (fig 3.15). The ratio was significantly increased in both control and DMH FR animals compared to FA/FR indicating that long term folate restriction has a differential effect on energy pools. However, looking at AMPK activation through phosphorylation at T172, FA/FR experienced a significant increase in AMPK phosphorylation in DMH treated mice compared to controls (fig 3.16). FR induced increase in AMPK activation did not reach statistical significance (P=0.1). Analysis of the NAD+/NADH ratio revealed a non-significant increase (P=0.07) in FR DMH compared to FA DMH (fig 3.17).

SIRT1 mRNA expression was increased in both FA/FR and FR DMH compared to FA DMH (fig 3.18). Energy levels, as well as AMPK and SIRT1 activation could potentially explain the downregulation of mTORC1 under both FA/FR and FR DMH treated animals despite upregulation of the upstream PI3K/PDK/AKT pathway, however, the results could not explain the adaptive differential effect that confers protection on long term FR animals.

mTORC1 regulates protein synthesis and growth through the downstream targets 4E-BP1 and S6K1. FA/FR DMH resulted in a decrease in 4E-BP1 phosphorylation at T37-46 compared to FA DMH, while FR DMH resulted in an additional significant decrease in 4E-BP1 phosphorylation compared to FA/FR and FA DMH (fig 3.19). Analysis of S6K1 phosphorylation revealed a different picture. FA/FR DMH drastically increased activation and phosphorylation of S6K1 compared to FA and FR DMH (fig 3.20). S6k1 is a critical downstream target of mTOR that



regulates multiple processes such as protein synthesis, cellular metabolism, cell cycle progression, adipogenesis as well as playing a critical role in cancer [125].

In summary, we saw that mTOR is downregulated under both FA/R and FR potentially due to the activation of AMPK and SIRT1. However, a divergence of effects was observed downstream of mTORC1. FR caused a more significant decrease in 4E-BP1 indicating a further reduction in cap dependent translation. While FA/FR resulted in a significant increase in S6K1 activation potentially reversing the growth inhibition mediated my repressed mTOR and 4E-BP1.

#### **Effect of FR on methylation**

To assess the impact of a short and long-term folate deficient diet on global DNA methylation, we examined the expression levels of the major DNMT's involved in generating and maintaining CpG methylation across the genome. In mammals, DNA methylation is conducted mainly by DNMT1, DNMT3A, and DNMT3B. During DNA replication and cell division, DNMT1 conserves and maintains the methylation profile. DNMT3A and DNMT3B, expressed mainly in undifferentiated cells, are involved in de novo DNA methylation as well as assisting DNMT1 in maintaining genomic DNA methylation (fig 3.22) [126], [127]. DNMT1 expression decreased significantly in FA/FR DMH compared to FA DMH and FR DMH (fig3.23). There was no difference between DNMT1 expression between FR DMH and FA DMH, and a non-significant decrease in DNMT1 was observed in FR controls compared to FA and FA/FR controls (fig3.23). Similarly, we saw the same trend with DNMT3A mRNA levels significantly decreased in FA/FR DMH, but not FR DMH, compared to FA DMH (fig3.24). A non-significant decrease in DNMT3A expression was also observed in FR controls vs FA controls (fig 3.24). Expression of DNMT3B was equally significantly decreased in both FA/FR DMH and FR DMH compared to FA DMH (fig 3.25). Interestingly, DNMT3B expression decreased significantly in FR control compared to



both FA/FR and FA control. Contrary to reported rodent studies[128], long-term folate restriction (FR) resulted in decreased DNMT expression (non-significant in DNMT1, P=0.06 in DNMT3A, significant in DNMT3B) in our control groups. While long-term folate FR DMH had no effect on DNMT1 and DNMT3A, we observed a significant decrease in DNMT3B compared to FA DMH. On the other hand, short term folate restriction (FA/FR) did not alter DNMT's expression in control animals, but significantly reduced mRNA expression of all 3 DNMT's as compared to FA DMH.

Our results clearly show that FA/FR has a differential effect on the expression of DNMT's compared to FR. These findings could provide us with clues to further investigate the role of DNA methylation in the adaptive and protective effect of long term-folate restriction.

### Discussion

### The dichotomy of folic acid

Folate deficiency has been linked to multiple pathologies including: anemia, psychiatric and neurodevelopmental disorders, cardiovascular disease, adverse pregnancy outcomes, low birth weight, cancer, and NTD [14], [31], [129], [130]. With the exception of the reduction of NTD, evidence of folic acid supplementation having a protective effect against these conditions is inconsistent [131].

Synthetic Folic acid added to food has a higher bioavailability (70-85%) compared to folates naturally occurring in foods (50%) [10], [132]. The widespread consumption of additional supplements in the form of vitamins, sports drinks, etc. in addition to fortified foods have caused a significant percentage of the population to approach or exceed the tolerable upper daily limit of folates [10], [132]–[134]. In Fact, a survey conducted after the folate mandate revealed that 23% of the US population, 43% of children under the age of 5 and 38% of elderly persons had high serum folates. Folic acid, a synthetic variant of natural folate, is converted to the biological form



(5-methyltetrahydrofolate) as it passes through the intestinal wall thorough a saturable conversion mechanism, leading to detectable levels of unmetabolized FA [135], [136]. In Fact, following the folate fortification mandate, unmetabolized folic acid was detected in nearly all serum samples from US children, adolescents, and adults [137]. Unmetabolized FA can bypass some regulation in the one carbon cycle by entering as THF rather than 5-methylTHF leading to potentially detrimental effects [138]. Some point to natural folates having a positive differential effect on health and disease compared to the synthetic FA [106], [139]. Over the past 2 decades, researchers have uncovered a trove of information regarding the effects of folates on health and disease. However, these reports have been often contradictory[106], [140], [141] and have ignited a heated debate regarding the risks of increasing levels of folates in the population. Of unique importance, is understanding how folates both natural and supplemented can modulate cancer risk.

#### **Folate and cancer**

Folate has a complicated history with cancer. Early publications, following the discovery of the role of folates in cancer and the subsequent successful use of anti-folate therapy, established the importance of folate in cancer [142], [143]. Accumulating evidence from various experimental, clinical and epidemiological studies, suggest that folate deficiency predisposes normal tissues to carcinogenesis, while folate supplementation suppresses it [34]. However, high doses leading to supraphysiological concentrations can enhance the growth and progression of cancers in normal tissues [13], [34]. In the presence of preneoplastic or neoplastic lesions, folate supplementation can enhance growth and aggressiveness of many cancers [19], [144]. Animal studies reveal a dual modulating effect of folate on colorectal cancer whereby the timing and dosage of folate can have contrasting results [33]. Folate deficiency in normal tissues can lead to uracil misincorporation due to the decrease in thymidylate synthesis causing DNA strand breaks, impaired repair and genomic



instability [33], [54]. Furthermore, folate deficiency can lead to aberrant DNA methylation due to the possible decrease of S-adenosylmethionine [13]. A folate adequate diet is expected to correct these aberrations leading to a decrease in cancer risk. However, in preneoplastic or fully transformed lesions, folate deficiency can inhibit the growth requirements of a rapidly proliferating tissue, leading to decreased tumor growth and progression. At the same time, FA supplementation can provide the tumor with nucleotides leading to faster growth [34].

Animal studies in various rodent models have linked inadequate folate consumption with an increased risk of cancer, specifically CRC [53], [145], [146]. Others have reached an opposite conclusion, with many reporting that folate restriction inhibits colorectal tumorigenesis in multiple models [40], [107], [147]–[149]. The inconsistencies in the results published have made it difficult to draw a conclusion regarding the effect of folate status on colorectal cancer. With the absence of a standard model and a multitude of dietary interventions used, it is challenging to draw parallels across these studies. Rosati et al [54] published a comprehensive review of models and methods used in studying folate and colorectal cancer in rodents. The studies referenced differed in the use of animal models, diets, dietary interventions, FA supplementation, antibiotic use, and type of caging [54]. Of particular importance, the duration and the type of dietary interventions differed considerably. While folate depleted groups received 0 mg/kg folate, control or supplemented groups received varying concentrations ranging for 2 mg/kg to 20 mg/kg folate[54]. The duration of folate depletion, as well as the use of antibiotics and wire-bottom caging to reduce the microflora and coprophagy supplied folates respectively, impacted serum and tissue specific folate levels [54]. Data is further confounded by the differential response to folate depletion seen when comparing rats to mice, as well as between various genotypes of the same species [54].



The results of our experiment show unequivocally that within the same mouse genotype, the duration of folate restriction has a differential effect on colon carcinogenesis initiation under controlled and identical conditions. The inclusion of the antibiotic SST in part of our experimental groups allowed us to potentially isolate the effect of the antibiotic on our results and was documented in chapter 2. We saw that SST further reduced folate levels significantly in most folate restricted groups (fig 3.3, 3.4, 3.5). This effect translated into a non-significant upward trend in ACF formation (fig 3.6). Since SST is known to produce a large shift and perturbation in the gut microbiome, potentially altering various signaling pathways, we decided to conduct further mechanistic analysis on the non-SST supplemented groups. Our mice were housed in normal cages, leading to the likelihood of coprophagy. Folate levels form this experiment and previous data from our lab confirm that the reduction of folate remains constant after the first week on a folate depleted diet (fig 1.2). Since no observation of anemia or growth inhibition was seen even when animals remained on the folate depleted diet for several months (unpublished lab data), it is safe to assume that this condition is not consistent with a severe folate depletion and therefore considered folate restriction. While we saw a significant (90%) reduction in serum folate levels on average, the effect on liver and colon was less pronounced, indicating less abundant circulating folates and greater enrichment and uptake by tissues. Despite comparable levels of folate in serum and tissue of both FA/FR and FR animals, the acclimation period to folate restriction conferred protection to these animals. To our knowledge, this constitutes novel findings that has not been replicated before. Animal studies that previously attempted to pinpoint the effect of folate restriction on initiation of colon carcinogenesis yielded contradictory results due to the differences in study design, duration, and timing of folate restriction among other variables [34], [54], [106]. Others showed that folate supplementation is protective initially but then becomes detrimental



after the establishment of the neoplastic lesion [147]. Hanley et al [107] showed that a temporary methyl donor depleted diet conferred long-lasting protection against intestinal adenoma by inducing changes to the intestinal epithelium. Our data suggest that adapting the animals to folate restriction is likely to induce positive and long-lasting changes to the expression profile of various tissues. In fact, there is evidence that long term folate restriction can mimic caloric restriction and potentially increase lifespan [150], [151]. Methionine restriction, another life extension strategy, requires an adaptation period to exhibit an anti-cancer effect (manuscript in preparation) [152], [153]. Data from our lab show that long term folate restriction improved survival rate of mice and modulated mTOR signaling similar to calorie restriction [123].

In humans, a large cohort found that individuals consuming the greatest amount of folate had a smaller risk of CRC compared the ones consuming the lowest [154]. Other studies could not conclude that higher folate status is protective [155], while some reported that low folate is protective [117], [156]. Other studies have linked high FA consumption to increases in the rate of colon cancer [32], [35]. In a recent large human interventional study, folic acid supplementation at 1mg/day had no effect on the recurrence of adenomas[32]. On the contrary, upon follow up, the authors reported a significant increase in advanced lesion with high malignant potential in the FA groups as well as an increase in overall cancer rates, and no reduction in cardiovascular or stroke risk [32]. Similar results were published in other large interventional trials were FA did not improve cardiovascular events [157], and an increased trend in total cancer and colorectal cancer risk was observed [158]. While several studies indicate that the level of folate levels and intake after the fortification efforts may be twice as high as originally anticipated [134], Mason et al. hypothesized that the FA fortification could be wholly or partly responsible for the observed increase in the colorectal cancer incidence observed in the 1990s [35]. FA has been linked to



increased risk of prostate and breast cancer [159]–[161]. In a study of FA supplementation in pregnancy, women receiving 5mg FA/day experienced an 70% increased total cancer mortality and a doubling of breast cancer mortality compared to women not taking any supplementation [144]. Furthermore, Troen et al [162] observed that higher levels of FA in elderly women correlated with reduced cytotoxicity of natural killer cells, a critical part of the immune system capable of detecting and destroying neoplastic cell clones. However, direct evidence of causality between high FA and cancer has not been established [163].

The discrepant results from various folate studies have ignited a robust debate regarding the risk versus benefit of FA supplementation. Some hypothesized that natural folate, not FA is associated with the protective effect against CRC [34], [119], [138]. While others questioned the validity of using serum folate versus dietary intake to assess folate exposure [164]. Other modifiers and confounding elements such as obesity, smoking, alcohol use, gene polymorphism, and B vitamins status could complicate the necessary analysis [138]. Furthermore, parents' folate status and the subsequent effect on epigenetic imprinting can impact the offspring's cancer risk later in life [138].

Attempting to unravel the complex relationship between folate and cancer can prove to be quite challenging. Additional layers of complexities are being uncovered as research is progressing into the matter and we are thrown into a heated discussion regarding the merits of supplementation. Our research provides another piece of evidence supporting the modulating and sometimes contradictory effect of folate on health and disease.

#### Folate and mTOR

mTOR is a conserved serine/threonine protein kinase that integrates signals such as growth factors, amino acids, energy levels, and nutrient availability to modulate cell growth, proliferation, autophagy, and metabolism (fig3.10). mTOR is found in 2 distinct complexes mTORC1 and



mTORC2. mTORC1 is rapamycin sensitive and is regulated by multiple upstream signals such as growth factors, amino acid availability, stress and hypoxia, and energy availability [42], [43]. mTORc2 is largely rapamycin insensitive with different regulators and downstream targets and is involved in the mTORC1 signaling feedback as well as regulating the actin cytoskeleton [165]. mTOR controls protein synthesis and ribosome biogenesis through the downstream targets 4E-BP1 and P70-S6k1 [166]. mTOR is regulated by and receives input from various upstream regulators such as AKT, REDD1, AMPK and signaling pathways such as Wnt and Ras. mTOR became the focus of intensive research in recent years as this signaling pathway has been altered in various conditions such as cancer, diabetes, and aging [44]. More recently mTOR has been found to be modulated by perturbation in one carbon metabolism and more specifically folate availability [45].

Current research has been unraveling the intimate relationship between the one carbon cycle and mTOR. In fact, mTORC1 was found to induce purine synthesis by controlling the mitochondrial tetrahydrofolate cycle [47]. mTORC1 was also found to induce the generation of SAM [48]. Folate deficiency in mice inhibited both mTORC1 and mTORC2 signaling and downregulated amino acid transporters in a pregnant mouse model as well as human trophoblasts [51]. Rosario et al. suggests that mTOR senses folate through the proton coupled folate transporter by modulating the cell surface expression of folate receptor alpha and reduced folate carrier [49], [51], [167]. Folic acid can activate the PI3K/AKT pathway leading to the phosphorylation of mTOR and its downstream targets S6K1 and 4E-BP1 [46]. Furthermore, both mTOR and one carbon cycle are regulated through energy availability. NAD+/NADH ratio, maintained by mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation, links energy levels and one carbon cycle through formate production from serine, as well as regulating mTOR through SIRT1 [9], [168]. Research



in *C. elegans* revealed that low levels of folic acid supplementation inhibit mTOR and IGF1 [169]. In vascular smooth muscle cells, FA suppressed mTOR and S6K1 [170]. Others have shown that folate deprivation can induce cell cycle arrest in neuronal cells via inhibition of IGF-1 signaling [171]. The seemingly contradictory effects suggest that folate can differentially impact mTOR depending on the tissue type and conditions.

In our model, we saw that the timing and duration of folate restriction has a divergent effect on the mTOR signaling pathway. Although both FA/FR and FR downregulation of mTOR were not mediated by the PI3K/PDK/AKT pathway or REDD1, the perturbation of energy pools and subsequent activation of AMPK and SIRT1 provided us with a possible mechanistic justification for mTOR decreased phosphorylation. The equal decrease of mTOR activation under both FA/FR and FR could not explain the differential effect of these conditions on colon carcinogenesis. However, analysis of the downstream targets of mTOR, 4E-BP1 and S6K1, revealed a contrasting difference between the two conditions in DMH treated animals. FR decreased 4E-BP more significantly than FA/FR indicating a more pronounced inhibition on cap dependent translation, reducing cell growth and metabolism. Remarkably, FA/FR induced a significant increase in S6k1 phosphorylation, while FR had no effect. S6K1 activation could potentially override the inhibition on growth and proliferation perpetuated by mTOR [172]–[174]. In fact, mTOR/S6K1 signaling plays an important role in colorectal carcinoma [175]. S6K1 is able to phosphorylate targets as rpS6 (ribosomal protein S6), eIF4B (eukaryotic translation Initiation Factor 4B) and eEF2K (eukaryotic Elongation Factor 2 Kinase), promoting protein synthesis and cell growth [172], [176]. S6K1 can also be activated by TOR-insensitive signaling pathways such as PDK1, MAPK and SAPK (stress-activated protein kinase) [125], [173]. S6K1 activation contributes to viability, proliferation, migration and chemo-resistance of various cancers [177]–[179].



The differential effect of short and long-term folate restriction on 4E-BP1 and S6K1 provided us with crucial evidence to help explain the disparity in the ACF results observed. However further investigation and research would be needed to confirm and validate the possibility that the protective effect of folate restriction is mediated through the mTOR pathway.

#### Folate and methylation

Folate is essential not only for purine and pyrimidine nucleotide synthesis, but also for maintenance of SAM levels, the universal donor of methyl groups to various methylation reactions including DNA methylation (fig3.9) [128]. Folate status has a direct and significant effect on DNA methylation. Perturbances in the folate pools stemming from low or high folate status can result in hypomethylation or hypermethylation leading to epigenetic instability [180]. DNA methylation occurs on CpG islands in the promoter regions of genes with the methylation status affecting gene expression, chromatin modification, and transcription [181]. A number of disease etiologies including cancer are linked to dysfunctional DNA methylation [131]. Methyl donors include: folate, B12, betaine, choline and methionine [104]. Critical to maintaining epigenetic imprinting to DNA, folates became the focus of fortification efforts to reduce the frequency of neural tube defects [182]. Subject to intense scientific debate, the incidence of many diseases including growth syndromes, neurological disorders, respiratory disorders, multiple sclerosis, autism, and cancer increased post fortification [131], [183]. Conversely, diets deficient in methyl donors have been shown to have deleterious effects [184].

Early animal experiments clearly show that a maternal diet high in methyl donors can alter epigenetic imprinting by silencing gene mutations in the agouti and Axin alleles [185], [186]. Studies in C57BL/6 mice linked high maternal dietary folate to alteration in the methylome of the offspring leading to changes in the expression of various genes involved in development as well



as behavioral changes [187], [188]. Diets low in folate affected methylation patterns of genes associated with cancer, diabetes, autism and schizophrenia in the sperm of male mice [189]. Combination of the western high fat diet with FA supplementation in mice can potentially induce heritable susceptibility to diseases such as obesity, type 2 diabetes, and insulin resistance in the offspring, possibly through epigenetic modification of DNA and histone methylation [131], [190], [191]. Human studies linked maternal FA supplementation to changes in global methylation patterns as well as the methylation status of several critical genes affecting birth weight, insulin resistance, obesity, type 2 diabetes, asthma, and vocabulary development [132], [192]–[197].

DNA hypomethylation is considered an early event in carcinogenesis causing increased gene expression and DNA strand breaks [181]. In colorectal cancer (CRC), global genomic hypomethylation is well documented. Additionally, genomic instability, site specific hypermethylation of tumor suppressor, and mismatch repair genes lead to increased mutations [128]. Diets deficient in methyl group donors have been shown to upregulate DNA methyltransferase DNMT in the rat liver [198], [199]. In contrast, folic acid supplementation has been linked to an increase in DNMT activity [200]. Results from recent studies suggest that moderate short duration folate deficiency induces DNA hypermethylation in rodent liver, possibly due to a compensatory upregulation of DNMT [201]–[203]. Others noted that the genomic DNA methylation in the liver returned to baseline after 8 weeks on folate deficient diet [147]. The effect of folate restriction on methylation was not consistent across studies. Kim et al. review of the literature reported that folate restriction affected DNA methylation differently depending on the severity and length of folate restriction, as well as the use of carcinogenic treatments such as DMH or AOM [128]. Some argue that aberrant methylation alone could not consistently explain how



folate restriction could promote carcinogenesis in adults, however, a transgenerational epigenetic effect could modulate cancer risk in the offsprings [138].

Our results show that long term folate restriction FR produced a more pronounced decrease in all DNMT's expression in control animals compared to FA/FR and FR. However, in the DMH treated animals, the expression levels of DNMT1 and DNMT3A in FR animals were equivalent to that of FA, while in FA/FR both were significantly reduced. This suggests that animals adapted to long term folate restriction and then exposed to DMH mimic FA in the expression of critical maintenance methyltransferases. This is consistent with the findings by song et al. [147] noting an adaptive rebound of genomic DNA methylation. The differential effect of FR compared to FA/FR on DNA methyltransferase expression represents a valid target for further analysis to fully characterize the impact on global methylation as well as on gene specific methylation patterns.

Our research provides yet another evidence of the increasingly complex and puzzling effects of folate. This data shows, for the first time in a controlled experiment, that adapting to long term folates restriction can provide a protective effect against colon cancer. We show that long-term folate restriction impacts critical pathways, such as mTOR and methylation, differently than short-term. While more research is needed to unravel the complex dynamics of this observed protection, our results provides us with important leads. The significance of these findings is that it overturns many of the rigid assumptions we had about the role of folates in CRC, revealing a much more complicated picture indeed.

It is quite clear that the discourse regarding the effects of folate on health and disease will not be settled any time soon. In fact, results from the last decades of research regarding the relationship between folate and cancer have added to the confusion and complexity surrounding the subject. This fact does not detract from the importance of the issue at hand. On the contrary, it


delivers a great sense of urgency to pursue vital research and attempt to unravel the mystery. As a greater percentage of the population is exposed to elevated levels of folates (both natural and synthetic), a condition that may be considered anomalous from an evolutionary perspective, we are faced with a difficult conundrum. Do we continue with the efforts to supplement the whole population with FA to prevent a limited number of neural tube defects while risking a much larger and vulnerable segment of the population? Our incomplete understanding of the subject prevents us from providing a definitive answer. Furthermore, it could take decades more for a clear consensus to emerge. Further action could be delayed by bureaucracy and policy implementation. By that time, the potential deleterious effects would have impacted generations as well as their offspring.



#### Figure 3.1: *Study design*

Sixty 4 months old C57BL/6 male mice were randomly assigned to 6 groups and fed AIN93Gpurified isoenergetic diets (Dyets, Inc., Lehigh Valley, PA)[88]. The control group (FA) received a folate adequate diet (2mg FA/kg diet for 8 weeks) +/- ABx (antibiotic SST). The experimental groups: (FA/FR) received (2mg FA/kg diet for 7 weeks then 0 mg folic acid/kg diet for 1 week for a total of 8 weeks) +/- ABx (antibiotic SST), and (FR) received a folate deficient diet (0 mg folic acid/kg diet for 8 weeks) +/- ABx (antibiotic SST). After 8 weeks on the respective diets, 6-7 mice from each group were randomly chosen and treated IP with 1, 2-dimethylhydrazine HCl (DMH, 30 mg/kg body weight) in 10 mmol/liter of NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (Fisher Scientific) once a week for 6 weeks. The animals were monitored for signs of toxicity and remained on their respective diets for an additional 7 weeks before sacrifice. Control n=3, DMH n=6-7.









Figure 3.2: The effect of short-term and long-term folate restriction with/without antibiotic on animal weights in control and DMH treated animals

Weights of FA, FA/FR, and FR mice +/- ABx (antibiotic SST) at the beginning of the experiment, after 8 weeks on respective diets, and at the time of sacrifice (21 weeks). Control n=3, DMH n=6-7. Bars S.E.M





Figure 3.2: The effect of short-term and long-term folate restriction with/without antibiotic on animal weights in control and DMH treated animals



Figure 3.3: The effect of short-term and long-term folate restriction with/without antibiotic on serum folate levels in control and DMH treated animals

Folate levels were analyzed using the Lactobacillus casei microbiological assay of folic acid derivatives as described by Horne et. Al[89]. Serum folate levels are expressed as ng/ml. FA: Folate adequate, FA/FR: short-term Folate restriction, FR: long-term Folate Restricted, ABx+: diet with 1% SST, ABx-: diet without 1% SST. Control n=3, DMH n=6-7. Different letters indicate significant differences at P < 0.05.



Figure 3.3: The effect of short-term and long-term folate restriction with/without antibiotic on serum folate levels in control and DMH treated animals



🗆 ABx- 🛚 ABx+



Figure 3.4: The effect of short-term and long-term folate restriction with/without antibiotic on liver folate levels in control and DMH treated animals

Folate levels were analyzed using the Lactobacillus casei microbiological assay of folic acid derivatives as described by Horne et. Al[89]. Folate levels are expressed as nmol/g. FA: Folate adequate, FA/FR: short-term Folate restriction, FR: long-term Folate Restricted, ABx+: diet with 1% SST, ABx-: diet without 1% SST. Control n=3, DMH n=6-7. Different letters indicate significant differences at P < 0.05.



Figure 3.4: The effect of short-term and long-term folate restriction with/without antibiotic on liver folate levels in control and DMH treated animals



🗆 ABx- 🛚 ABx+



Figure 3.5: The effect of short-term and long-term folate restriction with/without antibiotic on colon folate levels in control animals

Folate levels were analyzed using the Lactobacillus casei microbiological assay of folic acid derivatives as described by Horne et. Al[89]. Folate levels are expressed as nmol/g. FA: Folate adequate, FA/FR: short-term Folate restriction, FR: long-term Folate Restricted, ABx+: diet with 1% SST, ABx-: diet without 1% SST. n=3. Different letters indicate significant differences at P < 0.05.



Figure 3.5: The effect of short-term and long-term folate restriction with/without antibiotic on colon folate levels in control animals





#### Figure 3.6: Long-term folate restriction protects against ACF formation

Aberrant Crypt Foci (ACF) numbers in the colons of DMH treated mice were determined by light microscopy at 10x magnification in a blinded manner as described in material and methods. Image I represent a normal colon with no pathologies. Image III shows a preneoplastic aberrant crypt foci that displays as a raised area in the center. Highlighted samples refer to animals that exhibited large cancerous growths and gross abnormalities in the stomach and liver upon sacrifice. FA: Folate adequate, FA/FR: short-term Folate restriction, FR: long-term Folate Restricted, ABx+: diet with 1% SST, ABx-: diet without 1% SST. n=6-7. Different letters indicate significant differences at P < 0.05.



Figure 3.6: long-term folate restriction protects against ACF formation

ACF DATA

	A B		С	D	E	F		
	FA ABx-	FA ABx+	FA/FR ABx-	FA/FR ABx+	FR ABx-	FR ABx+		
1	12	15	32	21	14	26		
2	25	37	30	18	11	9		
3	11	19	24	46	21	13		
4	10	12	36	37	7	10		
5	16	20	24	35	16	10		
6	23	21	18	22	12	19		
AVG	16.71	20.67	27.33	29.83	13.50	14.50		
SDV	6.05	8.69	6.53	11.13	4.76	6.72		
SEM	2.47	3.88	2.92	4.97	2.13	3.00		
35.00 - 30.00 - 25.00 - 30.00 - 15.00 - 10.00 - 5.00 -	a	a T	b	D	a,c ⊺	a,c		
0.00 +	FA ABx-	FA ABx+	FA/FR ABx-	FA/FR ABx+	FR ABx-	FR ABx+		





Figure 3.7: Gross abnormalities in FA DMH animals

The following images refer to cancerous growths and pathologies uncovered in animals in the Folate supplemented (FA) DMH animals.





Figure 3.7: Gross abnormalities in FA DMH animals



Figure 3.8: The timing and duration of folate restriction has a differential effect on the occurrence of preneoplastic lesions ACF

79

Top figure: Folate levels were analyzed using the Lactobacillus casei microbiological assay of folic acid derivatives as described by Horne et. Al[89]. Serum folate levels are expressed as ng/ml. Bottom figure: Aberrant Crypt Foci (ACF) numbers in the colons of DMH treated mice were determined by light microscopy at 10x magnification in a blinded manner.

FA: Folate adequate, FA/FR: short-term Folate restriction, FR: long-term Folate Restricted, ABx+: diet with 1% SST, ABx-: diet without 1% SST. DMH n=6-7. Different letters indicate significant differences at P < 0.05.











Figure 3.9: Folate metabolism and one carbon cycle



Plasma was collected from C57BL/6 mice fed (FA) folate adequate diet (2 mg folic acid/kg diet) and (FR) folate restricted diet (0 mg folic acid/kg diet) upon sacrifice. Data obtained from 4 mice in each group. Samples were sent to MSU and UC-Davis for HPLC analysis. Amino aicd levels are expressed as ratio of FR to FA.

Amino Acid	FR/FA
Aspartic acid	0.94
Threonine	0.60
Serine	0.82
Asparagine	0.78
Glutamic Acid	0.92
Glutamine	0.90
a-Aminoadipic acid	0.91
Proline	0.49
Glycine	0.89
Alanine	0.64
Citrulline	0.71
a-Amino-n-butyric acid	0.81
Valine	0.54
Methionine	0.64
<mark>Isoleucine</mark>	0.54
Leucine	0.57
Tyrosine	0.62
Phenylalanine	0.73
b-Alanine	1.4
Homocysteine	0.86
Ethanolamine	1.1
Ammonia	1.2
Ornithine	0.60
Tryptophan	0.79
Lysine	0.69
Histidine	0.72
3-Methylhistidine	1.69
Arginine	0.80
AE-Cys (int.std)	0.96



# Table 3.2: Effect of folate restriction on mTOR pathway genes.

Total RNA was isolated from the colon mucosa of folate adequate and folate restricted mice using the RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) per manufacturer's protocol. RNA samples were quantified with NanoDrop ND-1000 (NanoDrop Technologies, Inc, Wilmington, DE) and 260/280 ratio in the range of 2.0-2.2 was defined as acceptable. A quality check of the total RNA was performed using an Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer (Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA). Microarray expression profiling was conducted by Microarray & Bioinformatics Facility Core at Wayne State University (Institute of Environmental Health Sciences, Detroit, MI) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Data obtained from 4 mice in each group. Significant differences at P < 0.01. FR compared significant as to FA. ns: not

Accession No.	Gene Symbol	Gene Name	FR
NM_133781	Cab39	Calcium binding protein 39	-1.2
NM_011492	Stk11	Serine/threonine kinase 11	-1.2
BC043920	Frap1	FK506 binding protein 12-rapamycin associated protein 1	-1.3
AK029196	4921505C17Rik	RIKEN cDNA 4921505C17 gene	1.5
AK129326	4932417H02Rik	RIKEN cDNA 4932417H02 gene	ns
NM_007918	Eif4ebp1	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E binding protein 1	ns



Figure 3.10: Folate restriction reduces mTOR phosphorylation at the serine 2448 residue The level of mTOR protein phosphorylation at serine 2448 was analyzed using western blotting as described in materials and methods. Data is expressed as adjusted band volume normalized to total lane proteins. Levels of phosphorylated protein were determined first, then the membrane lightly stripped and tested for respective total protein. Phosphorylated levels of protein were normalized to total and expressed as ratio. FA: Folate adequate diet, FA/FR: short-term Folate restricted diet, FR: long-term Folate restricted diet, CON: control mice, DMH: mice treated with dimethylhydrazine, ABx-: diet without 1% SST. Control n=3, DMH n=6-7. \* Significant differences at P < 0.05.





Figure 3.10: Folate restriction reduces mTOR phosphorylation at the serine 2448 residue

# P-mTOR ser2448 ratio

	Pho	osho		Тс	otal	
	control	DMH		control	DMH	
FA ABx-			FA ABx-			-
FA/FR ABx-			FA/FR ABx-			-
FR ABx-			FR ABx-			_



Figure 3.11: *Effect of folate restriction on mTOR auto phosphorylation at the serine 2481 residue* The level of mTOR protein phosphorylation at serine 2481 was analyzed using western blotting as described in materials and methods. Data is expressed as adjusted band volume normalized to total lane proteins. Levels of phosphorylated protein were determined first, then the membrane lightly stripped and tested for respective total protein. Phosphorylated levels of protein were normalized to total and expressed as ratio. FA: Folate adequate diet, FA/FR: short-term Folate restricted diet, FR: long-term Folate restricted diet, CON: control mice, DMH: mice treated with dimethylhydrazine, ABx-: diet without 1% SST. Control n=3, DMH n=6-7. \* Significant differences at P < 0.05.





Figure 3.11: Effect of folate restriction on mTOR auto phosphorylation at the serine 2481 residue

# P-mTOR ser2481 ratio

		Pl	nosho								То	tal				
	cont	rol			DMH					control				DMH		
FA ABx-	-		-	-	-	-	-	FA ABx-	-	-	1	-	-	-		
									1		1					
FA/FR ABx-		-	-		-	-	general	FA/FR ABx-	1	-	-	-	-	-	-	1
FR ABx-	-		-	-	-	-	-	FR ABx-	-	Name of Street, or other	-	-	-	-	-	1



# Figure 3.12: Effect of folate restriction on PDK1 phosphorylation at the serine 241 residue

The level of PDK1 phosohoryation was analyzed using western blotting as described in materials and methods. Data is expressed as adjusted band volume normalized to total lane proteins. Levels of phosphorylated protein were determined first, then the membrane lightly stripped and tested for respective total protein. Phosphorylated levels of protein were normalized to total and expressed as ratio. FA: Folate adequate diet, FA/FR: short-term Folate restricted diet, FR: long-term Folate restricted diet, CON: control mice, DMH: mice treated with dimethylhydrazine, ABx-: diet without 1% SST. Control n=3, DMH n=6-7. \* Significant differences at P < 0.05.





Figure 3.12: Effect of folate restriction on PDK1 phosphorylation at the serine 241 residue

	control	DMH
FA Abx-		
FA/FR ABx-		
FR ABx-	* = *	
	•	



# Figure 3.13: Effect of folate restriction on REDD1 protein expression

The level of REDD1 protein expression was analyzed using western blotting as described in materials and methods. Data is expressed as adjusted band volume normalized to total lane proteins. FA: Folate adequate diet, FA/FR: short-term Folate restricted diet, FR: long-term Folate restricted diet, CON: control mice, DMH: mice treated with dimethylhydrazine, ABx-: diet without 1% SST. Control n=3, DMH n=6-7. \* Significant differences at P < 0.05.





Figure 3.13: Effect of folate restriction on REDD1 protein expression

		control		DMH					
FA ABx-			-	-	-	-	-	-	
FA/FR ABx-	-		-			-	1	-	
	Q								
FR ABx-	-	-	-	-	-			1	



#### Figure 3.14: Effect of folate restriction on energy levels (ADP/ATP ratio)

ADP/ATP ratio was assessed using a luciferase based bioluminescent assay kit (Abcam). 10 mg of liver tissue was quickly homogenized with nucleotide releasing buffer. Using a microplate reader, the homogenate was assayed per protocol to determine ATP induced luminescence. Then ADP converting enzyme was added and luminescence was further determined. Data are expressed at ADP/ATP ratio. FA: Folate adequate diet, FA/FR: short-term Folate restricted diet, FR: long-term Folate restricted diet, CON: control mice, DMH: mice treated with dimethylhydrazine, ABx-: diet without 1% SST. Control n=3, DMH n=6-7. \* Significant differences at P < 0.05.





93

Figure 3.14: Effect of folate restriction on energy levels (ADP/ATP\_ratio)



#### Figure 3.15: Effect of folate restriction on AMPK phosphorylation at T172 residue

The level of AMPK protein phosphorylation at threonine 172 was analyzed using western blotting as described in materials and methods. Data is expressed as adjusted band volume normalized to total lane proteins. Levels of phosphorylated protein were determined first, then the membrane lightly stripped and tested for respective total protein. Phosphorylated levels of protein were normalized to total and expressed as ratio. FA: Folate adequate diet, FA/FR: short-term Folate restricted diet, FR: long-term Folate restricted diet, CON: control mice, DMH: mice treated with dimethylhydrazine, ABx-: diet without 1% SST. Control n=3, DMH n=6-7. \* Significant differences at P < 0.05.





FR ABx-

Figure 3.15: Effect of folate restriction on AMPK phosphorylation at T172 residue



FR ABx-

### Figure 3.16: Effect of folate restriction on energy levels (NAD+/NADH ratio)

NAD<sup>+</sup>/NADH ratio was assayed using a fluorometric microplate reader assay (Abcam). 20 mg of liver tissue was homogenized in provided lysis buffer and supernatant was collected. Total NAD, NAD<sup>+</sup> and NADH were assayed per protocol. Fluorescence was measured at EX/EM=540/590 nm. Data is expressed at NAD<sup>+</sup> to NADH ratio. FA: Folate adequate diet, FA/FR: short-term Folate restricted diet, FR: long-term Folate restricted diet, CON: control mice, DMH: mice treated with dimethylhydrazine, ABx-: diet without 1% SST. Control n=3, DMH n=6-7. \* Significant differences at P < 0.05.





97

Figure 3.16: *Effect of folate restriction on energy levels (NAD+/NADH ratio)* 



### Figure 3.17: Effect of folate restriction on SIRT1 mRNA expression

Levels of SIRT1 mRNA were analyzed in the liver. Expression of the gene was determined using real time PCR technique and the level was normalized to Gapdh expression as described in materials and methods. FA: Folate adequate diet, FA/FR: short-term Folate restricted diet, FR: long-term Folate restricted diet, CON: control mice, DMH: mice treated with dimethylhydrazine, ABx-: diet without 1% SST. Control n=3, DMH n=6-7. \* Significant differences at P < 0.05.





Figure 3.17: Effect of folate restriction on SIRT1 mRNA expression


Figure 3.18: *Effect of folate restriction on 4E-BP phosphorylation at T37-46 residues* The level of 4E-BP1 protein phosphorylation at T37-46 was analyzed using western blotting as described in materials and methods. Data is expressed as adjusted band volume normalized to total lane proteins. Levels of phosphorylated protein were determined first, then the membrane lightly stripped and tested for respective total protein. Phosphorylated levels of protein were normalized to total and expressed as ratio. FA: Folate adequate diet, FA/FR: short-term Folate restricted diet, FR: long-term Folate restricted diet, CON: control mice, DMH: mice treated with dimethylhydrazine, ABx-: diet without 1% SST.Control n=3, DMH n=6-7. \* Significant differences at P < 0.05.



www.manaraa.com



Figure 3.18: Effect of folate restriction on 4E-BP phosphorylation at T37-46 residues

Phosho

Total

	control	DMH		control	DMH
FA ABx-			FA ABx-		
FA/FR ABx-			FA/FR ABx-		
FR ABx-			FR ABx-		
2	·			•	



## Figure 3.19: Effect of folate restriction on P-70 S6K1 phosphorylation

The level of P-70 S6K1 protein phosphorylation was analyzed using western blotting as described in materials and methods. Data is expressed as adjusted band volume normalized to total lane proteins. Levels of phosphorylated protein were determined first, then the membrane lightly stripped and tested for respective total protein. Phosphorylated levels of protein were normalized to total and expressed as ratio. FA: Folate adequate diet, FA/FR: short-term Folate restricted diet, FR: long-term Folate restricted diet, CON: control mice, DMH: mice treated with dimethylhydrazine, ABx-: diet without 1% SST. Control n=3, DMH n=6-7. \* Significant differences at P < 0.05.





Figure 3.19: Effect of folate restriction on P-70 S6K1 phosphorylation





Figure 3.20: P-70 S6K1 signaling cascade and feedback mechanisms

Source:[204]





Figure 3.21: DNA methyltransferases role in methylation



# Figure 3.22: Effect of folate restriction on DNMT1 mRNA expression

Expression of DNMT1 mRNA was analyzed in the liver tissues. Expression of the gene was determined using Real Time PCR technique and the level was normalized to Gapdh expression as described in materials and methods. Experiments were conducted in technical triplicates. FA: Folate adequate diet, FA/FR: short-term Folate restricted diet, FR: long-term Folate restricted diet, CON: control mice, DMH: mice treated with dimethylhydrazine, ABx-: diet without 1% SST. Control n=3, DMH n=6-7. \* Significant differences at P < 0.05



Figure 3.22: Effect of folate restriction on DNMT1 mRNA expression







www.manaraa.com

# Figure 3.23: Effect of folate restriction on DNMT3a mRNA expression

Expression of DNMT3a mRNA was analyzed in the liver tissues. Expression of the gene was determined using Real Time PCR technique and the level was normalized to Gapdh expression as described in materials and methods. Experiments were conducted in technical triplicates. FA: Folate adequate diet, FA/FR: short-term Folate restricted diet, FR: long-term Folate restricted diet, CON: control mice, DMH: mice treated with dimethylhydrazine, ABx-: diet without 1% SST. Control n=3, DMH n=6-7. \* Significant differences at P < 0.05











## Figure 3.24: Effect of folate restriction on DNMT3b mRNA expression

Expression of DNMT3b mRNA was analyzed in the liver tissues. Expression of the gene was determined using Real Time PCR technique and the level was normalized to Gapdh expression as described in materials and methods. Experiments were conducted in technical triplicates. FA: Folate adequate diet, FA/FR: short-term Folate restricted diet, FR: long-term Folate restricted diet, CON: control mice, DMH: mice treated with dimethylhydrazine, ABx-: diet without 1% SST. Control n=3, DMH n=6-7. \* Significant differences at P < 0.05





Figure 3.24: Effect of folate restriction on DNMT3b mRNA expression



#### **CHAPTER 4: SUMMARY AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

The relation between folate and cancer is growing increasingly complex as research is uncovering new facts that contradict the existing paradigm. For the past several decades the collective evidence supported the increased intake of folates to improve health outcomes and protect against various cancers, specifically colon cancer [26]. Folate's role in nucleotide synthesis was well known since the 40's and that knowledge led to the rise of the antifolate class of drugs to treat various cancers [142]. Adequate folate is also considered essential for maintaining genetic stability and protecting tissues from transformation. However, overly abundant consumption of folates can encourage the growth of dysplastic neoplastic lesions [106]. The mandatory fortification of grains and cereals with folates to reduce NTD's since the 90's led to a substantial increase in the population's folate levels [10].

Animal studies assessing the risks and benefits of folate supplementation provided contradictory findings [54]. Our initial findings uncovering a protective effect of dietary folate restriction on colon carcinogenesis in our  $\beta$ -pol haploinsufficient model led us to expand our investigation to see if the protection persists in normal mouse genetic background [38]. Our initial pilot studies revealed that extended folate restriction, allowing the animals to acclimate, provided protection as seen in reduced ACF formation. We then embarked on this current study to further characterize and attempt to mechanistically dissect that protective effect. We randomized our experimental and control mice in groups with or without the antibiotic succinylsulfathiazole. SST is commonly used to reduce folate producing bacteria in the gut of the animals and can therefore induce a more severe folate depleted condition. We were also interested in isolating the effect of the antibiotic in a folate adequate condition to see if it can modify or confound the suspected pathways modulated by folate restriction and cancer. Surprisingly, SST had a significant effect on



the mTOR pathway, reducing mTOR phosphorylation and the downstream target 4E-BP1. Furthermore, we saw a decrease in IGF1 activation upstream of mTOR as evident from reduced PDK1 phosphorylation. Paradoxically, SST increased energy levels leading to decreased activation of the mTOR inhibitor AMPK. However, REDD1, an inhibitor of mTOR that responds to stress and hypoxia was increased by SST.



Summary of the effect of SST on the mTOR pathway:

These findings allowed us to characterize the effect of SST on the critical mTOR pathway. The observed effects most likely stemmed from the perturbation of intestinal flora leading to the disruption of growth signaling and energy metabolism. SST groups were then omitted from further mechanistic analysis in the 2<sup>nd</sup> part of the study.

After establishing that an intact microflora is crucial for a sound analysis of the effect of folate restriction on colon carcinogenesis, we proceeded with analysis of the remaining groups that



were not exposed to SST. The results clearly show that in c57/bl6 mice, carcinogenic treatment initiated one week after starting a folate depleted diet caused significantly more ACF than a folate depleted diet for 8 weeks when compared to FA control. This effect was observed despite an equal reduction in serum, liver and colon folate levels between FA/FR and FR mice. That brings us to the conclusion that folate restriction requires an adaptation period to exert a protective effect. Analysis of the mTOR pathway revealed that both FA/FR and FR reduced mTORC1 activation. However, we observed a paradoxical activation of the IGF1 pathway upstream of mTORC1 though increased activation of PDK1. REDD1 expression was decreased in both FA/FR and FR. mTORC1 downregulation was likely induced by perturbance in energy levels and metabolism as seen by the increased expression of AMPK and SIRT1. We observed a differential effect between FR and FA/FR downstream of mTOR. 4E-BP1 phosphorylation was significantly reduced in FR compared to FA/FR and FA, while S6K1 phosphorylation was significantly increased in FA/FR compared to FA and FR. These findings suggest that long term folate restriction FR may potentially inhibit growth and metabolism, a condition that is considered protective against cancer initiation and progression. While short term folate restriction resulted in a paradoxical increase in S6K1 activation, potentially overriding the growth inhibition of mTORC1 downregulation. Analysis of the DNA methyltransferases revealed that FA/FR resulted in decreased expression of DNMT1 and DNMT3a compared to FA, while FR had no effect. The decrease in the activity of methyltransferases in FA/FR warrants additional research to fully characterize the impact on genomic methylation patterns.





Summary of the differential effect of timing and duration of folate restriction on mTOR and



DNA methyltransferases.

It is of utmost importance to continue to investigate the relationship between folate and cancer. It would be tempting to accept the opinion of the majority and presume that folate can do no harm. However, the magnitude of evidence that points in the other direction has become overwhelming. Future studies should focus on attempting to duplicate the results in other lab models and genetic backgrounds. Proteomics, metabolomic, and epigenetic studies should be conducted to further understand the dynamics and adaptation that link folate to various signaling pathways involved in cancer. Establishing accurate and standardized folate requirements for animal studies is necessary to draw parallels and compare results. Most importantly, establishing the proper human requirements without attempting to generalize and enforce the recommendation on all subsets of the population is warranted. The human population is heterogeneous with varying



nutritional requirements and subject to diverse environmental and genetic influences. In the era of personalized medicine, we should scrutinize generalized public health policies and personalize nutrition in the same manner we personalize medicine.



#### REFERENCES

- [1] N. R. Moulik, A. Kumar, and S. Agrawal, "Folic acid, one-carbon metabolism & childhood cancer," *Indian Journal of Medical Research*. 2017, doi: 10.4103/ijmr.IJMR\_275\_15.
- H. K. Mitchell, E. E. Snell, and R. J. Williams, "The concentration of 'folic acid," J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1941, doi: 10.1021/ja01853a512.
- [3] R. B. Angier *et al.*, "Synthesis of a compound identical with the L. casei factor isolated from liver," *Science*. 1945, doi: 10.1126/science.102.2644.227.
- [4] J. Selhub, "Folate, vitamin B12 and vitamin B6 and one carbon metabolism," in *Journal of Nutrition, Health and Aging*, 2002.
- Y. I. Kim, "Will mandatory folic acid fortification prevent or promote cancer?," *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 2004, doi: 10.1093/ajcn/80.5.1123.
- [6] T. H. Kim, J. Yang, P. B. Darling, and D. L. O'Connor, "A Large Pool of Available Folate Exists in the Large Intestine of Human Infants and Piglets," *J. Nutr.*, vol. 134, no. 6, pp. 1389–1394, 2004, doi: 10.1093/jn/134.6.1389.
- [7] A. Chango *et al.*, "A polymorphism (80G->A) in the reduced folate carrier gene and its associations with folate status and homocysteinemia," *Mol. Genet. Metab.*, 2000, doi: 10.1006/mgme.2000.3034.
- [8] A. J. A. Wright, J. R. Dainty, and P. M. Finglas, "Folic acid metabolism in human subjects revisited: Potential implications for proposed mandatory folic acid fortification in the UK," *British Journal of Nutrition*. 2007, doi: 10.1017/S0007114507777140.
- [9] G. S. Ducker and J. D. Rabinowitz, "Cell Metabolism Review One-Carbon Metabolism in Health and Disease," *Cell Metab.*, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2016.08.009.
- [10] E. P. Quinlivan and J. F. Gregory, "Effect of food fortification on folic acid intake in the



United States," Am. J. Clin. Nutr., 2003, doi: 10.1093/ajcn/77.1.221.

- [11] E. Reynolds and M. Sillender, "Fortification of flour with folic acid," *Bmj*, vol. 324, no. 7342, p. 918, 2002, doi: 10.1136/bmj.324.7342.918.
- [12] US. Department of health and human Services. Food and Drug Administration, "Food Standards: Amendment of Standards of Identity For Enriched Grain Products to Require Addition of Folic Acid," *Fed. Regist.*, 1996, doi: 10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004.
- [13] Y. I. Kim, "Folic acid fortification and supplementation Good for some but not so good for others," *Nutrition Reviews*. 2007, doi: 10.1301/nr.2007.nov.504-511.
- [14] L. B. Bailey, G. C. Rampersaud, and G. P. A. Kauwell, "Folic Acid Supplements and Fortification Affect the Risk for Neural Tube Defects, Vascular Disease and Cancer: Evolving Science," *J. Nutr.*, 2003, doi: 10.1093/jn/133.6.1961s.
- [15] A. D. Smith, Y. I. Kim, and H. Refsum, "Is folic acid good for everyone?," *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.*, vol. 87, no. 3, pp. 517–533, 2008, doi: 10.1093/ajcn/87.3.517.
- [16] H. B. Heseker, J. B. Mason, J. Selhub, I. H. Rosenberg, and P. F. Jacques, "Not all cases of neural-tube defect can be prevented by increasing the intake of folic acid," *Br. J. Nutr.*, vol. 102, no. 2, pp. 173–180, 2009, doi: 10.1017/S0007114508149200.
- [17] S. C. on the S. E. of D. R. I. and its P. on F. O. B. V. and C. Institute of Medicine (US), *Institute of Medicine-Dietary Reference Intakes for Thiamin, Riboflavin, Niacin, Vitamin B6, Folate, Vitamin B12, Pantothenic Acid, Biotin, and Choline (Dietary Reference Series)-National Academies Pr.* 1998.
- [18] M. S. Field and P. J. Stover, "Safety of folic acid," Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 2018, doi: 10.1111/nyas.13499.
- [19] Y. I. Kim, "Folic acid fortification and supplementation Good for some but not so good



for others," *Nutr. Rev.*, vol. 65, no. 11, pp. 504–511, 2007, doi: 10.1301/nr.2007.nov.504-511.

- [20] C. M. Ulrich, J. D. Potter, and N. Ulrich, "Folate supplementation: Too much of a good thing?," *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers and Prevention*. 2006, doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-152CO.
- [21] P. Sanderson *et al.*, "Folate and colo-rectal cancer risk," *Br. J. Nutr.*, vol. 98, no. 6, pp. 1299–1304, 2007, doi: 10.1017/S0007114507771908.
- [22] B. C. Blount *et al.*, "Folate deficiency causes uracil misincorporation into human DNA and chromosome breakage: implications for cancer and neuronal damage," *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 94, no. 7, pp. 3290–3295, 1997.
- [23] I. Eto and C. L. Krumdieck, "Role of vitamin B12 and folate deficiencies in carcinogenesis," *Adv Exp Med Biol*, vol. 206, pp. 313–330, 1986.
- [24] J. M. Zingg and P. A. Jones, "Genetic and epigenetic aspects of DNA methylation on genome expression, evolution, mutation and carcinogenesis," *Carcinogenesis*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 869–882, 1997.
- [25] S. W. Choi, Y. I. Kim, J. N. Weitzel, and J. B. Mason, "Folate depletion impairs DNA excision repair in the colon of the rat," *Gut*, vol. 43, no. 1, pp. 93–99, 1998.
- [26] S. W. Choi and J. B. Mason, "Folate and carcinogenesis: an integrated scheme," *J Nutr*, vol. 130, no. 2, pp. 129–132, 2000.
- [27] R. F. Branda, A. R. Lafayette, J. P. O'Neill, and J. A. Nicklas, "The effect of folate deficiency on the hprt mutational spectrum in Chinese hamster ovary cells treated with monofunctional alkylating agents," *Mutat Res*, vol. 427, no. 2, pp. 79–87, 1999.
- [28] R. F. Branda, J. P. O'Neill, E. M. Brooks, L. M. Trombley, and J. A. Nicklas, "The effect



of folate deficiency on the cytotoxic and mutagenic responses to ethyl methanesulfonate in human lymphoblastoid cell lines that differ in p53 status," *Mutat Res*, vol. 473, no. 1, pp. 51–71, 2001.

- [29] J. Schüz, T. Weihkopf, and P. Kaatsch, "Medication use during pregnancy and the risk of childhood cancer in the offspring," *Eur. J. Pediatr.*, 2007, doi: 10.1007/s00431-006-0401 z.
- [30] D. Charles, A. R. Ness, D. Campbell, G. D. Smith, and M. H. Hall, "Taking folate in pregnancy and risk of maternal breast cancer," *Br. Med. J.*, 2004, doi: 10.1136/bmj.329.7479.1375.
- [31] E. Giovannucci *et al.*, "Multivitamin use, folate, and colon cancer in women in the nurses" health study," *Ann. Intern. Med.*, 1998, doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-129-7-199810010-00002.
- [32] B. F. Cole *et al.*, "Folic Acid for the Prevention of Colorectal Adenomas," *JAMA*, 2007, doi: 10.1001/jama.297.21.2351.
- [33] Y. I. Kim, "Folate: A magic bullet or a double edged sword for colorectal cancer prevention?," *Gut*, vol. 55, no. 10, pp. 1387–1389, 2006, doi: 10.1136/gut.2006.095463.
- [34] Y. I. Kim, "Folate and colorectal cancer: An evidence-based critical review," *Molecular Nutrition and Food Research*. 2007, doi: 10.1002/mnfr.200600191.
- [35] J. B. Mason *et al.*, "A temporal association between folic acid fortification and an increase in colorectal cancer rates may be illuminating important biological principles: A hypothesis," *Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev.*, 2007, doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-07-0329.
- [36] A. Unnikrishnan *et al.*, "Folate deficiency regulates expression of DNA polymerase β in response to oxidative stress," *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, vol. 50, no. 2, pp. 270–280, Jan.



2011, doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2010.11.003.

- [37] A. Unnikrishnan *et al.*, "Oxidative stress alters base excision repair pathway and increases apoptotic response in apurinic/apyrimidinic endonuclease 1/redox factor-1 haploinsufficient mice," *Free Radic Biol Med*, vol. 46, no. 11, pp. 1488–1499, 2009, doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2009.02.021.
- [38] L. F. Ventrella-Lucente *et al.*, "Folate deficiency provides protection against colon carcinogenesis in DNA polymerase β haploinsufficient mice," *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 285, no. 25, pp. 19246–19258, Jun. 2010, doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.069807.
- [39] A. J. MacFarlane, N. A. Behan, F. M. G. Matias, J. Green, D. Caldwell, and S. P. J.
   Brooks, "Dietary folate does not significantly affect the intestinal microbiome, inflammation or tumorigenesis in azoxymethane-dextran sodium sulphate-treated mice," *Br. J. Nutr.*, vol. 109, no. 4, pp. 630–638, 2013, doi: 10.1017/S0007114512001857.
- [40] K. Kadaveru, P. Protiva, E. J. Greenspan, Y. I. Kim, and D. W. Rosenberg, "Dietary methyl donor depletion protects against intestinal tumorigenesis in Apc(Min/+) mice," *Cancer Prev Res*, vol. 5, no. 7, pp. 911–920, 2012, doi: 10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-11-0544.
- [41] G. Bistulfi *et al.*, "Dietary folate deficiency blocks prostate cancer progression in the TRAMP model," *Cancer Prev Res*, vol. 4, no. 11, pp. 1825–1834, 2011, doi: 10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-11-0140.
- [42] C. S. Conn and S. B. Qian, "mTOR signaling in protein homeostasis: less is more?," *Cell Cycle*, vol. 10, no. 12, pp. 1940–1947, 2011.
- [43] M. Laplante and D. M. Sabatini, "mTOR signaling in growth control and disease," *Cell*, vol. 149, no. 2, pp. 274–293, 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.03.017.



- [44] R. Zoncu, A. Efeyan, and D. M. Sabatini, "mTOR: from growth signal integration to cancer, diabetes and ageing," *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 21–35, 2011, doi: 10.1038/nrm3025.
- [45] J. Zeng, W. K. K. Wu, H. Wang, and X. Li, "Serine and one-carbon metabolism, a bridge that links mTOR signaling and DNA methylation in cancer," *Pharmacol. Res.*, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2019.104352.
- [46] S. Y. Hwang *et al.*, "Folic acid promotes the myogenic differentiation of C2C12 murine myoblasts through the Akt signaling pathway," *Int. J. Mol. Med.*, 2015, doi: 10.3892/ijmm.2015.2311.
- [47] I. Ben-Sahra, G. Hoxhaj, S. J. H. Ricoult, J. M. Asara, and B. D. Manning, "mTORC1 induces purine synthesis through control of the mitochondrial tetrahydrofolate cycle," *Science (80-. ).*, 2016, doi: 10.1126/science.aad0489.
- [48] F. Kottakis *et al.*, "LKB1 loss links serine metabolism to DNA methylation and tumorigenesis," *Nature*, 2016, doi: 10.1038/nature20132.
- [49] F. J. Rosario, P. W. Nathanielsz, T. L. Powell, and T. Jansson, "Maternal folate deficiency causes inhibition of mTOR signaling, down-regulation of placental amino acid transporters and fetal growth restriction in mice," *Sci. Rep.*, 2017, doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-03888-2.
- [50] F. J. Rosario, T. L. Powell, and T. Jansson, "mTOR folate sensing links folate availability to trophoblast cell function," *J. Physiol.*, 2017, doi: 10.1113/JP272424.
- [51] E. Silva, F. J. Rosario, T. L. Powell, and T. Jansson, "Mechanistic Target of Rapamycin Is a Novel Molecular Mechanism Linking Folate Availability and Cell Function," *J. Nutr.*, vol. 147, no. 7, pp. 1237–1242, 2017, doi: 10.3945/jn.117.248823.



- [52] F. J. Rosario, T. L. Powell, and T. Jansson, "Mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR) regulates trophoblast folate uptake by modulating the cell surface expression of FR-α and the RFC," *Sci. Rep.*, 2016, doi: 10.1038/srep31705.
- [53] Y.-I. Kim, "Role of Folate in Colon Cancer Development and Progression," J. Nutr., 2003, doi: 10.1093/jn/133.11.3731s.
- [54] R. Rosati, H. Ma, and D. C. Cabelof, "Folate and colorectal cancer in rodents: A model of DNA repair deficiency," *Journal of Oncology*. 2012, doi: 10.1155/2012/105949.
- [55] S. J. D. O'Keefe *et al.*, "Products of the Colonic Microbiota Mediate the Effects of Diet on Colon Cancer Risk," *J. Nutr.*, vol. 139, no. 11, pp. 2044–2048, 2009, doi: 10.3945/jn.109.104380.
- [56] B. D. Wallace and M. R. Redinbo, "The human microbiome is a source of therapeutic drug targets," *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 379–384, 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.cbpa.2013.04.011.
- [57] J. Jovel, L. A. Dieleman, D. Kao, A. L. Mason, and E. Wine, "The Human Gut Microbiome in Health and Disease," *Metagenomics Perspect. Methods, Appl.*, pp. 197– 213, 2017, doi: 10.1016/B978-0-08-102268-9.00010-0.
- [58] R. Tojo *et al.*, "Intestinal microbiota in health and disease: Role of bifidobacteria in gut homeostasis," *World J. Gastroenterol.*, vol. 20, no. 41, pp. 15163–15176, 2014, doi: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i41.15163.
- [59] I. B. Jeffery, "Gut microbiota and aging," vol. 350, no. 6265, 2015.
- [60] A. Manuscript, "The gut microbiome in health and in disease," *Curr Opin Gastroenterol.*, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 69–75, 2016, doi: 10.1097/MOG.00000000000139.The.
- [61] E. E. Patterson et al., "Gut microbiota, obesity and diabetes," Postgrad. Med. J., vol. 92,



no. 1087, pp. 286–300, 2016, doi: 10.1136/postgradmedj-2015-133285.

- [62] J. Plaza-Diaz, C. Gomez-Llorente, L. Fontana, and A. Gil, "Modulation of immunity and inflammatory gene expression in the gut, in inflammatory diseases of the gut and in the liver by probiotics," *World J. Gastroenterol.*, vol. 20, no. 42, pp. 15632–15649, 2014, doi: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i42.15632.
- [63] C. Milani *et al.*, "The human gut microbiota and its interactive connections to diet," J. *Hum. Nutr. Diet.*, vol. 29, no. 5, pp. 539–546, 2016, doi: 10.1111/jhn.12371.
- [64] M. J. Hill, "Intestinal flora and endogenous vitamin synthesis," in *European Journal of Cancer Prevention*, 1997, doi: 10.1097/00008469-199703001-00009.
- [65] J. G. Leblanc *et al.*, "B-Group vitamin production by lactic acid bacteria current knowledge and potential applications," *Journal of Applied Microbiology*. 2011, doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2011.05157.x.
- [66] M. Rossi, A. Amaretti, and S. Raimondi, "Folate production by probiotic bacteria," *Nutrients*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 118–134, 2011, doi: 10.3390/nu3010118.
- [67] C. Burgess, M. O'Connell-Motherway, W. Sybesma, J. Hugenholtz, and D. Van Sinderen, "Riboflavin production in Lactococcus lactis: Potential for in situ production of vitaminenriched foods," *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 2004, doi: 10.1128/AEM.70.10.5769-5777.2004.
- [68] F. M. Asrar and D. L. O'Connor, "Bacterially synthesized folate and supplemental folic acid are absorbed across the large intestine of piglets," *J. Nutr. Biochem.*, 2005, doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2005.02.006.
- [69] A. Pompei *et al.*, "Administration of Folate-Producing Bifidobacteria Enhances Folate
   Status in Wistar Rats," *J. Nutr.*, 2007, doi: 10.1093/jn/137.12.2742.



- [70] R. Fuller and G. R. Gibson, "Modification of the intestinal microflora using probiotics and prebiotics," *Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology, Supplement*. 1997, doi: 10.1080/00365521.1997.11720714.
- [71] N. Rong, J. Selhub, B. R. Goldin, and I. H. Rosenberg, "Bacterially synthesized folate in rat large intestine is incorporated into host tissue folyl polyglutamates," *J. Nutr.*, vol. 121, no. 12, pp. 1955–1959, 1991, doi: 10.1093/jn/121.12.1955.
- [72] C. Thoma, T. J. Green, and L. R. Ferguson, "Citrus Pectin and Oligofructose Improve Folate Status and Lower Serum Total Homocysteine in Rats," *Int. J. Vitam. Nutr. Res.*, 2003, doi: 10.1024/0300-9831.73.6.403.
- [73] S. L. Gorbach, "Perturbation of intestinal microflora," in *Veterinary and Human Toxicology*, 1993.
- [74] I. Sekirov *et al.*, "Antibiotic-induced perturbations of the intestinal microbiota alter host susceptibility to enteric infection," *Infect. Immun.*, 2008, doi: 10.1128/IAI.00319-08.
- [75] W. H. DEARING and F. R. HEILMAN, "The effect of antibacterial agents on the intestinal flora of patients: the use of aureomycin, chloromycetin, dihydrostreptomycin, sulfasuxidine and sulfathalidine.," *Gastroenterology*, vol. 16, no. 1. pp. 12–18, 1950, doi: 10.1016/s0016-5085(19)36589-8.
- [76] C. Jernberg, S. Löfmark, C. Edlund, and J. K. Jansson, "Long-term impacts of antibiotic exposure on the human intestinal microbiota," *Microbiology*. 2010, doi: 10.1099/mic.0.040618-0.
- [77] H. L. ARCHER and E. P. LEHMAN, "CLINICAL AND LABORATORY
   EXPERIENCES WITH SUCCINYL SULFATHIAZOLE," Ann. Surg., 1944, doi: 10.1097/00000658-194404000-00005.



- [78] M. M. NELSON and H. M. EVANS, "The effect of succinylsulfathiazole on pteroylglutamic acid deficiency during lactation in the rat," *Archives of biochemistry*, vol. 18, no. 1. pp. 153–159, 1948.
- [79] S. Degroote, D. J. Hunting, A. A. Baccarelli, and L. Takser, "Maternal gut and fetal brain connection: Increased anxiety and reduced social interactions in Wistar rat offspring following peri-conceptional antibiotic exposure," *Prog. Neuro-Psychopharmacology Biol. Psychiatry*, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2016.06.010.
- [80] E. J. POTH, "CLINICAL USE OF SUCCINYLSULFATHIAZOLE," Arch. Surg., 1942, doi: 10.1001/archsurg.1942.01210200024002.
- [81] H. G. BELL, "Succinylsulfathiazole in resection for carcinoma of the colon; its," *Trans. West. Surg. Assoc.*, 1948.
- [82] E. L. R. Stokstad and T. H. Jukes, "Sulfonamides and Folic Acid Antagonists: A Historical Review," J. Nutr., vol. 117, no. 7, pp. 1335–1341, 1987, doi: 10.1093/jn/117.7.1335.
- [83] G. L. Patrick, "An Introduction to Medicinal Chemistry (5th edition)," Oxford, 2013.
- [84] J. M. Burgoon, J. Selhub, M. Nadeau, and T. W. Sadler, "Investigation of the effects of folate deficiency on embryonic development through the establishment of a folate deficient mouse model," *Teratology*, 2002, doi: 10.1002/tera.10040.
- [85] M. Zhao *et al.*, "Chronic folate deficiency induces glucose and lipid metabolism disorders and subsequent cognitive dysfunction in mice," *PLoS One*, 2018, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0202910.
- [86] R. K. Le Leu, G. P. Young, and G. H. McIntosh, "Folate deficiency diminishes the occurrence of aberrant crypt foci in the rat colon but does not alter global DNA



methylation status," *J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.*, vol. 15, no. 10, pp. 1158–1164, 2000, doi: 10.1046/j.1440-1746.2000.02327.x.

- [87] L. F. Ventrella-Lucente *et al.*, "Folate deficiency provides protection against colon carcinogenesis in DNA polymerase beta haploinsufficient mice," *J Biol Chem*, vol. 285, no. 25, pp. 19246–19258, 2010, doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.069807.
- [88] D. C. Cabelof, J. J. Raffoul, J. Nakamura, D. Kapoor, H. Abdalla, and A. R. Heydari, "Imbalanced base excision repair in response to folate deficiency is accelerated by polymerase beta haploinsufficiency," *J Biol Chem*, vol. 279, no. 35, pp. 36504–36513, 2004, doi: 10.1074/jbc.M405185200.
- [89] D. W. Horne and D. Patterson, "Lactobacillus casei microbiological assay of folic acid derivatives in 96-well microtiter plates," *Clin Chem*, vol. 34, no. 11, pp. 2357–2359, 1988.
- [90] J. J. Dibner and J. D. Richards, "Antibiotic growth promoters in agriculture: History and mode of action," in *Poultry Science*, 2005, doi: 10.1093/ps/84.4.634.
- [91] M. Laplante and D. M. Sabatini, "mTOR signaling," *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.*, 2012, doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a011593.
- [92] C. Porta, C. Paglino, and A. Mosca, "Targeting PI3K/Akt/mTOR signaling in cancer," *Frontiers in Oncology*. 2014, doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014.00064.
- [93] A. A. and H. M.K., "mTOR signaling for biological control and cancer," *Journal of Cellular Physiology*. 2013.
- [94] N. Hay and N. Sonenberg, "Upstream and downstream of mTOR. Genes Dev. 2004, 18, 1926–1945," *Genes Dev*, 2004, doi: 10.1101/gad.1212704.hibiting.
- [95] M. P. Deyoung, P. Horak, A. Sofer, D. Sgroi, and L. W. Ellisen, "Hypoxia regulates TSC1/2-mTOR signaling and tumor suppression through REDD1-mediated 14-3-3



shuttling," Genes Dev., 2008, doi: 10.1101/gad.1617608.

- [96] C. Regazzetti, K. Dumas, Y. Le Marchand-Brustel, P. Peraldi, J. F. Tanti, and S.
   Giorgetti-Peraldi, "Regulated in Development and DNA Damage Responses -1 (REDD1)
   Protein Contributes to Insulin Signaling Pathway in Adipocytes," *PLoS One*, 2012, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0052154.
- [97] D. G. Hardie, "AMP-activated/SNF1 protein kinases: Conserved guardians of cellular energy," *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*. 2007, doi: 10.1038/nrm2249.
- [98] B. B. Kahn, T. Alquier, D. Carling, and D. G. Hardie, "AMP-activated protein kinase: Ancient energy gauge provides clues to modern understanding of metabolism," *Cell Metabolism*. 2005, doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2004.12.003.
- [99] C. Cantó *et al.*, "AMPK regulates energy expenditure by modulating NAD + metabolism and SIRT1 activity," *Nature*, 2009, doi: 10.1038/nature07813.
- [100] I. R. Rowland, A. K. Mallett, and A. Wise, "The effect of diet on the mammalian gut flora and its metabolic activities," *Crit. Rev. Toxicol.*, 1985, doi: 10.3109/10408448509041324.
- [101] "Cancer incidence in five continents. Volume IX.," *IARC Sci. Publ.*, 2008, doi: 10.1097/00008469-199309000-00010.
- [102] L. A. Cannon-Albright, M. H. Skolnick, D. T. Bishop, R. G. Lee, and R. W. Burt,
   "Common Inheritance of Susceptibility to Colonic Adenomatous Polyps and Associated Colorectal Cancers," *N. Engl. J. Med.*, 1988, doi: 10.1056/NEJM198809013190902.
- [103] M. Pufulete, P. W. Emery, and T. A. B. Sanders, "Folate, DNA methylation and colorectal cancer," *Proc. Nutr. Soc.*, 2003, doi: 10.1079/pns2003265.
- [104] A. C. Newman and O. D. K. Maddocks, "One-carbon metabolism in cancer," *Br. J. Cancer*, vol. 116, no. 12, pp. 1499–1504, 2017, doi: 10.1038/bjc.2017.118.



[105] L. C. Bollheimer, R. Buettner, A. Kullmann, and F. Kullmann, "Folate and its preventive potential in colorectal carcinogenesis. How strong is the biological and epidemiological evidence?," *Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology*. 2005, doi:

10.1016/j.critrevonc.2004.12.008.

- [106] J. B. Mason, "Folate, cancer risk, and the Greek god, Proteus: A tale of two chameleons," *Nutr. Rev.*, vol. 67, no. 4, pp. 206–212, 2009, doi: 10.1111/j.1753-4887.2009.00190.x.
- [107] M. P. Hanley, K. Kadaveru, C. Perret, C. Giardina, and D. W. Rosenberg, "Dietary methyl donor depletion suppresses intestinal adenoma development," *Cancer Prev. Res.*, 2016, doi: 10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-16-0042.
- [108] Nutrient Requirements of Laboratory Animals, 1995.
- [109] P. G. Reeves, "Components of the AIN-93 Diets as Improvements in the AIN-76A Diet," J. Nutr., 1997, doi: 10.1093/jn/127.5.838s.
- [110] B. Toth and L. Malick, "Production of intestinal and other tumors by 1,2 dimethylhydrazine dihydrochloride in mice. II. Scanning electron microscopic and cytochemical study of colonic neoplasms," *Br. J. Exp. Pathol.*, 1976.
- [111] E. E. Deschner and E. C. Long, "Colonic neoplasms in mice produced with six injections of 1, 2-dimethylhydrazine," Oncol., 1977, doi: 10.1159/000225236.
- [112] M. S. Martin *et al.*, "An experimental model for cancer of the colon and rectum. Intestinal carcinoma induced in the rat 1,2-dimethylhydrazine," *Digestion*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 22–34, 1973.
- [113] G. Choudhary and H. Hansen, "Human health perspective on environmental exposure to hydrazines: a review," *Chemosphere*, vol. 37, no. 5, pp. 801–843, 1998.
- [114] A. E. Rogers and K. M. Nauss, "Rodent models for carcinoma of the colon," Dig Dis Sci,



vol. 30, no. 12 Suppl, pp. 87S-102S, 1985.

- [115] E. A. Williams, "Folate, colorectal cancer and the involvement of DNA methylation,"
   *Proc. Nutr. Soc.*, vol. 71, no. 4, pp. 592–597, 2012, doi: 10.1017/S0029665112000717.
- [116] J. B. Mason, "Unraveling the complex relationship between folate and cancer risk," *BioFactors*. 2011, doi: 10.1002/biof.174.
- [117] B. Gylling *et al.*, "Low folate levels are associated with reduced risk of colorectal cancer in a population with low folate status," *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*, vol. 23, no. 10, pp. 2136–2144, 2014, doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-13-1352.
- [118] Z. Ashkavand, C. O'Flanagan, M. Hennig, X. Du, S. D. Hursting, and S. A. Krupenko, "Metabolic reprogramming by folate restriction leads to a less aggressive cancer phenotype," *Mol. Cancer Res.*, vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 189–200, 2017, doi: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-16-0317.
- [119] M. A. Sanjoaquin, N. Allen, E. Couto, A. W. Roddam, and T. J. Key, "Folate intake and colorectal cancer risk: a meta-analytical approach," *Int J Cancer*, vol. 113, no. 5, pp. 825– 828, 2005, doi: 10.1002/ijc.20648.
- [120] J. Copp, G. Manning, and T. Hunter, "TORC-specific phosphorylation of mTOR: phospho-Ser2481 is a marker for intact mTORC2," *Cancer Res.*, 2009, doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-3014.
- [121] D. W. Lamming *et al.*, "Rapamycin-induced insulin resistance is mediated by mTORC2 loss and uncoupled from longevity," *Science (80-. ).*, vol. 335, no. 6076, pp. 1638–1643, 2012, doi: 10.1126/science.1215135.
- [122] A. Casamayor, N. A. Morrice, and D. R. Alessi, "Phosphorylation of Ser-241 is essential for the activity of 3-phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase-1: Identification of five



sites of phosphorylation in vivo," Biochem. J., 1999, doi: 10.1042/0264-6021:3420287.

- [123] S. Beydoun, "The Impact Of Folate Restriction On Cancer And Aging : A Mechanistic Analysis," 2016.
- [124] R. J. Shaw, "LKB1 and AMP-activated protein kinase control of mTOR signalling and growth," in *Acta Physiologica*, 2009, vol. 196, no. 1, pp. 65–80, doi: 10.1111/j.1748-1716.2009.01972.x.
- [125] M. R. Tavares, I. C. B. Pavan, C. L. Amaral, L. Meneguello, A. D. Luchessi, and F. M. Simabuco, "The S6K protein family in health and disease," *Life Sciences*. 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2015.03.001.
- [126] M. Okano, D. W. Bell, D. A. Haber, and E. Li, "DNA methyltransferases Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b are essential for de novo methylation and mammalian development," *Cell*, 1999, doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81656-6.
- [127] H. Gujar, D. J. Weisenberger, and G. Liang, "The roles of human DNA methyltransferases and their isoforms in shaping the epigenome," *Genes*. 2019, doi: 10.3390/genes10020172.
- [128] Y. I. Kim, "Folate, colorectal carcinogenesis, and DNA methylation: Lessons from animal studies," *Environ. Mol. Mutagen.*, vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 10–25, 2004, doi: 10.1002/em.20025.
- [129] S. Zhang *et al.*, "A prospective study of folate intake and the risk of breast cancer," *JAMA*, vol. 281, no. 17, pp. 1632–1637, 1999.
- [130] E. H. Reynolds, "The neurology of folic acid deficiency," in *Handbook of Clinical Neurology*, 2014.
- [131] K. R. Shorter, M. R. Felder, and P. B. Vrana, "Consequences of dietary methyl donor supplements: Is more always better?," *Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology*. 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.pbiomolbio.2015.03.007.



- [132] C. Hoyo *et al.*, "Folic acid supplementation before and during pregnancy in the Newborn Epigenetics STudy (NEST)," *BMC Public Health*, 2011, doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-11-46.
- [133] E. P. Quinlivan and J. F. Gregory 3rd, "Reassessing folic acid consumption patterns in the United States (1999 2004): potential effect on neural tube defects and overexposure to folate," *Am J Clin Nutr*, vol. 86, no. 6, pp. 1773–1779, 2007.
- [134] B. Shane, "Folate fortification: Enough already?," *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*.2003, doi: 10.1093/ajcn/77.1.8.
- [135] M. Sweeney, J. McPartlin, and J. Scott, "Folic acid fortification and public health: Report on threshold doses above which unmetabolised folic acid appear in serum," *BMC Public Health*, 2007, doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-7-41.
- [136] P. Kelly, J. McPartlin, M. Goggins, D. G. Weir, and J. M. Scott, "Unmetabolized folic acid in serum: Acute studies in subjects consuming fortified food and supplements," *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.*, 1997, doi: 10.1093/ajcn/65.6.1790.
- [137] C. M. Pfeiffer *et al.*, "Unmetabolized Folic Acid Is Detected in Nearly All Serum Samples from US Children, Adolescents, and Adults," *J. Nutr.*, 2015, doi: 10.3945/jn.114.201210.
- [138] J. B. Mason and S. Y. Tang, "Folate status and colorectal cancer risk: A 2016 update," *Mol. Aspects Med.*, vol. 53, pp. 73–79, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.mam.2016.11.010.
- [139] F. Scaglione and G. Panzavolta, "Folate, folic acid and 5-methyltetrahydrofolate are not the same thing," *Xenobiotica*. 2014, doi: 10.3109/00498254.2013.845705.
- [140] J. B. Mason, "Unraveling the complex relationship between folate and cancer risk," *BioFactors*, vol. 37, no. 4, pp. 253–260, 2011, doi: 10.1002/biof.174.
- [141] J. B. Mason and S. Y. Tang, "Folate status and colorectal cancer risk: A 2016 update," *Molecular Aspects of Medicine*. 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.mam.2016.11.010.



- [142] S. Farber, E. C. Cutler, J. W. Hawkins, J. H. Harrison, E. C. Peirce, and G. G. Lenz, "The action of pteroylglutamic conjugates on man," *Science (80-. ).*, 1947, doi: 10.1126/science.106.2764.619.
- [143] S. Farber, L. K. Diamond, R. D. Mercer, R. F. Sylvester, and J. A. Wolff, "Temporary Remissions in Acute Leukemia in Children Produced by Folic Acid Antagonist, 4-Aminopteroyl-Glutamic Acid (Aminopterin)," *N. Engl. J. Med.*, 1948, doi: 10.1056/nejm194806032382301.
- [144] J. M. Bland, "Taking folate in pregnancy and risk of maternal breast cancer," *BMJ*. 2005, doi: 10.1136/bmj.330.7491.600-a.
- [145] E. Knock, L. Deng, Q. Wu, D. Leclerc, X. L. Wang, and R. Rozen, "Low dietary folate initiates intestinal tumors in mice, with altered expression of G2-M checkpoint regulators polo-like kinase 1 and cell Division cycle 25c," *Cancer Res.*, 2006, doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-2477.
- [146] J. B. Mason, M. Hutchinson, D. Smith, J. Selhnb, and I. H. Rosenberg, "Folate Deficiency Enhances the Development of Colonic Neoplasia in Dimethylhydrazine-treated Rats," *Cancer Res.*, 1992.
- [147] J. Song, K. J. Sohn, A. Medline, C. Ash, S. Gallinger, and Y. I. Kim, "Chemopreventive effects of dietary folate on intestinal polyps in Apc+/- Msh2-/- Mice," *Cancer Res.*, 2000.
- [148] A. K. Lawrance, L. Deng, and R. Rozen, "Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase deficiency and low dietary folate reduce tumorigenesis in Apcmin/+ mice," *Gut*, 2009, doi: 10.1136/gut.2007.143107.
- [149] R. K. Le Leu, G. P. Young, and G. H. McIntosh, "Folate deficiency reduces the development of colorectal cancer in rats," *Carcinogenesis*, vol. 21, no. 12, pp. 2261–2265,



2000.

- [150] F. Cabreiro *et al.*, "Metformin retards aging in C. elegans by altering microbial folate and methionine metabolism," *Cell*, vol. 153, no. 1, pp. 228–239, 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.02.035.
- [151] B. Virk *et al.*, "Excessive folate synthesis limits lifespan in the C. elegans: E. coli aging model," *BMC Biol*, vol. 10, p. 67, 2012, doi: 10.1186/1741-7007-10-67.
- [152] L. Sun, A. A. Sadighi Akha, R. A. Miller, and J. M. Harper, "Life-span extension in mice by preweaning food restriction and by methionine restriction in middle age," *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*, vol. 64, no. 7, pp. 711–722, 2009, doi: 10.1093/gerona/glp051.
- [153] R. A. Miller, G. Buehner, Y. Chang, J. M. Harper, R. Sigler, and M. Smith-Wheelock, "Methionine-deficient diet extends mouse lifespan, slows immune and lens aging, alters glucose, T4, IGF-I and insulin levels, and increases hepatocyte MIF levels and stress resistance," *Aging Cell*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 119–125, 2005, doi: 10.1111/j.1474-9726.2005.00152.x.
- [154] T. M. Gibson *et al.*, "Pre- and postfortification intake of folate and risk of colorectal cancer in a large prospective cohort study in the United States," *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.*, 2011, doi: 10.3945/ajcn.110.002659.
- [155] S. J. P. M. Eussen *et al.*, "Plasma vitamins B2, B6, and B12, and related genetic variants as predictors of colorectal cancer risk," *Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev.*, 2010, doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-10-0407.
- [156] J. E. Lee *et al.*, "Plasma folate, methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR), and colorectal cancer risk in three large nested case-control studies," *Cancer Causes Control*, 2012, doi: 10.1007/s10552-012-9911-3.



- [157] J. F. E. Mann *et al.*, "Homocysteine lowering with folic acid and B vitamins in people with chronic kidney disease - Results of the renal Hope-2 study," *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.*, 2008, doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfm485.
- [158] K. H. Bønaa *et al.*, "Homocysteine lowering and cardiovascular events after acute myocardial infarction," *N. Engl. J. Med.*, 2006, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa055227.
- [159] J. J. Tomaszewski *et al.*, "Increased cancer cell proliferation in prostate cancer patients with high levels of serum folate," *Prostate*, 2011, doi: 10.1002/pros.21346.
- [160] J. C. Figueiredo *et al.*, "Folic acid and risk of prostate cancer: Results from a randomized clinical trial," *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.*, 2009, doi: 10.1093/jnci/djp019.
- [161] S. D. Manshadi *et al.*, "Folic acid supplementation promotes mammary tumor progression in a rat model," *PLoS One*, 2014, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0084635.
- [162] A. M. Troen *et al.*, "Unmetabolized folic acid in plasma is associated with reduced natural killer cell cytotoxicity among postmenopausal women," *J Nutr*, vol. 136, no. 1, pp. 189– 194, 2006.
- [163] M. Mehta and M. Shike, "Diet and physical activity in the prevention of colorectal cancer," *JNCCN J. Natl. Compr. Cancer Netw.*, 2014, doi: 10.6004/jnccn.2014.0174.
- [164] S. A. Glynn *et al.*, "Colorectal cancer and folate status: A nested case-control study among male smokers," *Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev.*, 1996.
- [165] M. Jhanwar-Uniyal, A. G. Amin, J. B. Cooper, K. Das, M. H. Schmidt, and R. Murali,
  "Discrete signaling mechanisms of mTORC1 and mTORC2: Connected yet apart in cellular and molecular aspects," *Advances in Biological Regulation*, vol. 64. Elsevier Ltd, pp. 39–48, 01-May-2017, doi: 10.1016/j.jbior.2016.12.001.

[166] M. Showkat, M. A. Beigh, and K. I. Andrabi, "mTOR Signaling in Protein Translation


Regulation: Implications in Cancer Genesis and Therapeutic Interventions," *Mol Biol Int*, vol. 2014, p. 686984, 2014, doi: 10.1155/2014/686984.

- [167] F. J. Rosario, Y. Kanai, T. L. Powell, and T. Jansson, "Mammalian target of rapamycin signalling modulates amino acid uptake by regulating transporter cell surface abundance in primary human trophoblast cells," *J. Physiol.*, 2013, doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2012.238014.
- [168] S. Cetrullo, S. D'Adamo, B. Tantini, R. M. Borzì, and F. Flamigni, "MTOR, AMPK, and sirt1: Key players in metabolic stress management," *Crit. Rev. Eukaryot. Gene Expr.*, 2015, doi: 10.1615/CritRevEukaryotGeneExpr.2015012975.
- [169] L. Rathor, B. A. Akhoon, S. Pandey, S. Srivastava, and R. Pandey, "Folic acid supplementation at lower doses increases oxidative stress resistance and longevity in Caenorhabditis elegans," *Age (Omaha).*, 2015, doi: 10.1007/s11357-015-9850-5.
- [170] S. Pan *et al.*, "Folic acid inhibits dedifferentiation of PDGF-BB-induced vascular smooth muscle cells by suppressing mTOR/P70S6K signaling," *Am. J. Transl. Res.*, 2017.
- [171] Y. Yang *et al.*, "Folate deprivation induces cell cycle arrest at G0/G1 phase and apoptosis in hippocampal neuron cells through down-regulation of IGF-1 signaling pathway," *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.*, vol. 79, pp. 222–230, Oct. 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2016.08.040.
- [172] B. Raught *et al.*, "Phosphorylation of eucaryotic translation initiation factor 4B Ser422 is modulated by S6 kinases," *EMBO J.*, 2004, doi: 10.1038/sj.emboj.7600193.
- [173] P. P. Roux *et al.*, "RAS/ERK signaling promotes site-specific ribosomal protein S6 phosphorylation via RSK and stimulates cap-dependent translation," *J. Biol. Chem.*, 2007, doi: 10.1074/jbc.M700906200.
- [174] H. M. S. Ismail, "S6 and Mtor," J. Biochem. Pharmacol. Res., 2013.



- [175] Z. Cheng *et al.*, "Rab1A promotes proliferation and migration abilities via regulation of the HER2/AKT-independent mTOR/S6K1 pathway in colorectal cancer," *Oncol. Rep.*, 2019, doi: 10.3892/or.2019.7071.
- [176] B. Kroczynska *et al.*, "Interferon-Dependent Engagement of Eukaryotic Initiation Factor
  4B via S6 Kinase (S6K)- and Ribosomal Protein S6K-Mediated Signals," *Mol. Cell. Biol.*,
  2009, doi: 10.1128/mcb.01537-08.
- [177] H. Zhang, J. Liang, and J. Zhang, "Research on progress and prospect of kinase S6K1," Sheng wu yi xue gong cheng xue za zhi = Journal of biomedical engineering = Shengwu yixue gongchengxue zazhi. 2014.
- [178] J. Ghosh and R. Kapur, "Role of mTORC1–S6K1 signaling pathway in regulation of hematopoietic stem cell and acute myeloid leukemia," *Experimental Hematology*. 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.exphem.2017.02.004.
- [179] M. K. Holz, "The role of S6K1 in ER-positive breast cancer," *Cell Cycle*. 2012, doi: 10.4161/cc.21194.
- [180] B. A. Jennings and G. Willis, "How folate metabolism affects colorectal cancer development and treatment; a story of heterogeneity and pleiotropy," *Cancer Lett.*, vol. 356, no. 2, pp. 224–230, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2014.02.024.
- [181] B. M. Ryan and D. G. Weir, "Relevance of folate metabolism in the pathogenesis of colorectal cancer," *J. Lab. Clin. Med.*, vol. 138, no. 3, pp. 164–176, 2001, doi: 10.1067/mlc.2001.117161.
- [182] T. J. Mathews, M. A. Honein, and J. D. Erickson, "Spina bifida and anencephaly prevalence - United States, 1991-2001," *Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep.*, 2002.
- [183] D. Dzewaltowski, R. Rosenkranz, M. A. Schenkelberg, D. A. Dzewaltowski, R. R.



Rosenkranz, and G. A. Milliken, "Social Environmental Influences on Physical Activity of Children With Autis...: Discovery Service," *J. Phys. Act. Health*, 2015.

- [184] G. Altobelli, I. G. Bogdarina, E. Stupka, A. J. L. Clark, and S. Langley-Evans, "Genomewide methylation and gene expression changes in newborn rats following maternal protein restriction and reversal by folic acid," *PLoS One*, 2013, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0082989.
- [185] G. L. Wolff, R. L. Kodell, S. R. Moore, and C. A. Cooney, "Maternal epigenetics and methyl supplements affect agouti gene expression in A(vy)/a mice," *FASEB J.*, 1998, doi: 10.1096/fasebj.12.11.949.
- [186] C. A. Cooney, A. A. Dave, and G. L. Wolff, "Maternal Methyl Supplements in Mice Affect Epigenetic Variation and DNA Methylation of Offspring," J. Nutr., 2002, doi: 10.1093/jn/132.8.2393s.
- [187] S. Barua, S. Kuizon, K. K. Chadman, M. J. Flory, W. T. Brown, and M. A. Junaid, "Single-base resolution of mouse offspring brain methylome reveals epigenome modifications caused by gestational folic acid," *Epigenetics and Chromatin*, 2014, doi: 10.1186/1756-8935-7-3.
- [188] S. Barua *et al.*, "Increasing maternal or post-weaning folic acid alters gene expression and moderately changes behavior in the offspring," *PLoS One*, 2014, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0101674.
- [189] R. Lambrot *et al.*, "Low paternal dietary folate alters the mouse sperm epigenome and is associated with negative pregnancy outcomes," *Nat. Commun.*, 2013, doi: 10.1038/ncomms3889.

[190] Y. Huang, Y. He, X. Sun, Y. He, Y. Li, and C. Sun, "Maternal high folic acid supplement



promotes glucose intolerance and insulin resistance in male mouse offspring fed a high-fat diet," *Int. J. Mol. Sci.*, 2014, doi: 10.3390/ijms15046298.

- [191] M. K. Skinner, "Environmental epigenetic transgenerational inheritance and somatic epigenetic mitotic stability," *Epigenetics*. 2011, doi: 10.4161/epi.6.7.16537.
- [192] P. Haggarty, "Epigenetic consequences of a changing human diet," in *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 2013, doi: 10.1017/S0029665113003376.
- [193] R. P. Steegers-Theunissen *et al.*, "Periconceptional maternal folic acid use of 400 μg per day is related to increased methylation of the IGF2 gene in the very young child," *PLoS One*, 2009, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0007845.
- [194] J. A. McKay *et al.*, "Genetic and non-genetic influences during pregnancy on infant global and site specific DNA methylation: Role for folate gene variants and vitamin B 12," *PLoS One*, 2012, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0033290.
- [195] C. S. Yajnik and U. S. Deshmukh, "Maternal nutrition, intrauterine programming and consequential risks in the offspring," *Reviews in Endocrine and Metabolic Disorders*. 2008, doi: 10.1007/s11154-008-9087-z.
- [196] E. Papadopoulou *et al.*, "The effect of high doses of folic acid and iron supplementation in early-to-mid pregnancy on prematurity and fetal growth retardation: The mother-child cohort study in Crete, Greece (Rhea study)," *Eur. J. Nutr.*, 2013, doi: 10.1007/s00394-012-0339-z.
- [197] E. Sharland, B. Montgomery, and R. Granell, "Folic acid in pregnancy: Is there a link with childhood asthma or wheeze?," *Aust. Fam. Physician*, 2011.
- [198] E. Wainfan, M. Kilkenny, and M. Dizik, "Comparison of methyltransferase activities of pair-fed rats given adequate or methyl-deficient diets," *Carcinogenesis*, 1988, doi:



10.1093/carcin/9.5.861.

- [199] S. H. Kaufmann, S. Desnoyers, Y. Ottaviano, N. E. Davidson, and G. G. Poirier, "Specific proteolytic cleavage of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase: an early marker of chemotherapyinduced apoptosis," *Cancer Res*, vol. 53, no. 17, pp. 3976–3985, 1993.
- [200] Y. B. Ding, J. L. He, X. Q. Liu, X. M. Chen, C. L. Long, and Y. X. Wang, "Expression of DNA methyltransferases in the mouse uterus during early pregnancy and susceptibility to dietary folate deficiency," *Reproduction*, 2012, doi: 10.1530/REP-12-0006.
- [201] M. Balaghi, C. Wagner, and C. Wagner, "DNA methylation in folate deficiency use of CpG methylase," *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 1993, doi: 10.1006/bbrc.1993.1750.
- [202] Y. I. Kim *et al.*, "Folate deficiency in rats induces DNA strand breaks and hypomethylation within the p53 tumor suppressor gene," *Am J Clin Nutr*, vol. 65, no. 1, pp. 46–52, 1997.
- [203] Y. I. Kim *et al.*, "Moderate folate deficiency does not cause global hypomethylation of hepatic and colonic DNA or c-myc-specific hypomethylation of colonic DNA in rats," *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.*, 1995, doi: 10.1093/ajcn/61.5.1083.
- [204] B. Magnuson, B. Ekim, and D. C. Fingar, "Regulation and function of ribosomal protein S6 kinase (S6K) within mTOR signalling networks," *Biochemical Journal*. 2012, doi: 10.1042/BJ20110892.



#### ABSTRACT

### TIMING AND DURATION OF FOLATE RESTRICTION DIFFERENTIALLY IMPACTS COLON CARCINOGENESIS.

by

### **ALI FARDOUS**

May 2020

Advisor: Dr. Ahmad R. Heydari

Major: Nutrition and Food Science

Degree: Doctor of Philosophy

Colorectal cancer (CRC) constitutes a major burden on the healthcare system as the second most commonly diagnosed cancer in the developed world. Dietary folate is considered an important modulator of colorectal cancer. Folate restriction has been implicated in increasing CRC incidence by disrupting nucleotide synthesis, Impacting DNA methylation and inducing genetic instability. Our research shows that the timing and duration of dietary folate restriction can differentially impact Colorectal cancer initiation. Acclimating mice to folate restriction for 8 weeks results in a reduced number of preneoplastic lesions compared to mice placed of folate restriction for 1 week prior to initiating the carcinogenic treatment. Analysis of the mTOR pathway revealed distinct differences in crucial target proteins between the two conditions. Furthermore, we noted differences in the expression of key DNA methyltransferases impacting global methylation.



# AUTOBIOGRAPHICAL STATEMENT

## ALI FARDOUS

# Education

April 2004 Bachelor of science in Pharmacy

# **Professional Experience**

2004-2009	Pharmacist in charge, Rite Aid Pharmacy, Detroit MI
2009-2020	Stafff Phrmacist, Walmart Pharmacy, Taylor MI
2011-2014	Graduate Teaching Assistant, Depatment of Nutrition and Food Science
	Wayne State University, Detroit, MI

